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ANNUAL REPORT



My success should not be bestowed on me 
alone, as it was not individual success, but the 
success of a collective — Ngā Whakataukī, Māori Proverb

Ehara taku toa,  
he takitahi,  
he toa takitini 
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With demand for better and more equitable health and 
wellbeing outcomes rising, there has never been greater 
demand for efficiency, collaboration and alignment across 
the Sector. The much-anticipated Health and Disability 
System Review is certain to identify ways to collectively 
achieve this.

The move towards a more cohesive approach is not unique 
to health – initiatives such as the (soon to be legislated) 
Public Service Act are being driven by Government to 
encourage the public sector to work better together. 

Transparency 

As a national shared services provider, NZHP is already 
working in this way. As part of a commitment towards 
continuous improvement, the company noted areas where 
it could improve and deliver greater value by initiating its 
own independent review in November 2018. 

This was later replaced by the DHB-led Shareholders 
Review Group (SRG) in April 2019. 

FROM OUR CHAIR
TERRY MCLAUGHLIN 

Focusing on shared services
New Zealand Health Partnerships (NZHP) is here to deliver measurable benefits to its shareholders 
– the 20 national District Health Boards (DHBs). 

These benefits ultimately enable the Sector to provide New Zealanders with better health outcomes – 
the priority for the tens of thousands of people who work tirelessly to care for those in need.

Led by Sir Brian Roche, with members including two DHB 
Chairs and the Ministry of Health (MoH), this group took 
an evidence-based approach to assessing NZHP’s current 
and ongoing value to the Sector. 

Following the review, the SRG provided its 
recommendations to the DHBs. While the DHBs consider 
the SRG report and recommendations, the company 
remains committed to the work it does to ensure success 
for the year ahead.

Accountability 
As a cost-recovery organisation, NZHP budgets to 
break-even each year. 

This year, however, the company recorded a net loss of 
$38.0m due principally to unbudgeted impairment of 
the FPIM asset ($32.9m) and unrecovered amortisation 
($5.7m) against that same asset. The FPIM impairment 
reasoning is discussed more fully elsewhere in this  
Annual Report and includes updated analysis from the 
revised FPIM Business Case and the option chosen and a 
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re-examination of historic spend in light of the pared-back 
scope now delivered and working at four DHBs. The Board 
believes the restated value provides a robust financial base 
from which to complete the investment required to migrate 
a further six DHBs onto FPIM and to deliver common IT 
infrastructure for the programme. Completion of these 
activities will significantly mitigate IT risk at those DHBs 
and also allow an estimated over 80% of DHB spend to be 
tracked through one common finance and procurement 
system. 

The annualised benefits came in at $16.6m against a 
Statement of Performance Expectations (SPE) target of 
$17.2m. The company planned to exceed this SPE target, 
but new tenders for National Procurement slipped into 
2019/20 and NZHP reduced Shared Banking benefits 
after the year-end following a review of changes made 
to the banking benefits model at the start of the financial 
year. Benefits of $2.2m were recorded in relation to the 
work done with DHB Chief Information Officers on further 
negotiations with Microsoft regarding its new  
all-of-government licensing agreement.

Commitment
Despite being under review for much of the year and the 
uncertainty this created, NZHP’s people continued to take 
ownership for delivering on its commitments, including 
the successful transition of the final four DHBs to BNZ and 
developing the Sector's first integrated multi-year National 
Procurement Plan.

A significant milestone was Cabinet approval of the Health, 
Finance and Procurement Information Management 
System (FPIM) Business Case in June, developed and 
delivered in partnership between NZHP and the MoH. 

Key steps were taken this year to ensure future success, 
including transferring operational responsibility for FPIM to 
MoH and establishing an FPIM Governance Board chaired 
by the Director General of Health, Dr Ashleigh Bloomfield. 

At an operational and management level, NZHP is still very 
much involved and is currently focusing on ongoing service 
enhancements for the four Wave One DHBs and managing 
the programme, which was reinitiated in July 2018.

Respect

In July, the Board accepted Tim Keating’s resignation 
as Chief Executive. Tim’s experience of leading change 

initiatives was invaluable during the reviews and 
he committed to remain as Chief Executive until he 
believed his contribution was completed. The Board 
thanks Tim for both his commitment to the process and 
his leadership of the organisation during this time.

The Board was pleased to appoint Steve Fisher as 
interim Chief Executive. We, and others across the 
Sector, believe Steve is the leader to take the SRG 
recommendations forward.

Steve was the former FPIM General Manager and 
NZHP’s GM Strategy, People and Engagement and has 
been Acting CE on a number of occasions. His strategic 
approach, Sector knowledge and ability to drive and 
deliver benefits will stand the future entity in good stead. 

At Board level, Peter stepped down as Chair in May 
2019 (and I took over as Chair from Peter). Peter will 
continue as an Independent Director so we will continue 
to benefit from his insights. Pauline Lockett has taken 
over from me as Chair of the Finance, Risk, and Audit 
Committee. In February 2019, Joanne Hogan resigned 
from our Board as an Independent Director. We also 
welcomed Sally Macauley, replacing Judy McGregor for 
the Board’s Northern Region Representation. We thank 
Judy and Joanne for their contribution.

I thank my fellow Board members, the company’s senior 
leaders and NZHP’s people for their continued focus on 
why we are here – to serve the Sector to provide better, 
more equitable health and wellbeing outcomes.

The company now has a unique opportunity to begin 
operating in ways that align with wider Sector thinking.

In light of the year's results this is more important than 
ever. I know the organisation will be taking the lessons 
learned to apply to the company of the future.

It is with confidence that we look to the year ahead 
as a company with a clear, unambiguous roadmap for 
delivery. 

Terry McLaughlin 

A national approach to shared functions supports 
commitments to wellbeing through ensuring equitable and 
efficient availability of resources and parity of experience 
across the country, through a consistent approach to 
procurement of shared services...” – Shareholders Review Group 2019, 

Terry McLaughlin represented NZHP on the SRG.
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Our returns

This is particularly important now, as the Sector faces the 
need to do more than ever before – very often with less. 
I recognise this is felt most acutely by the frontline — the 
DHBs and your hardworking staff. 

While our contribution is small relative to the mounting 
fiscal pressures faced by DHBs, I would like to 
acknowledge our own hardworking people as I share 
some of our positive outcomes for the year. Key results 
include:

•  Annualised benefits delivery of $16.6m up from 
$14.4m (2017/18) against target of  $17.2m

• Achieved 43% of our performance targets, due 
to some goals being placed on hold pending the 
outcome of the Shareholders Review Group and 
the pause of the Health Finance, Procurement and 
Information Management System (FPIM)

FROM OUR CHIEF EXECUTIVE
STEVE FISHER

Building for tomorrow, today
Our people are a lean company of less than 50 people all deeply committed to delivering 
value to our shareholders and, by extension, New Zealanders.

We understand the need for organisations to evolve to keep abreast of change, to ensure 
we are maximising value and ensuring every dollar we spend contributes to a better more 
equitable health system. 

• Annualised benefits targets for National 
Procurement were missed, partly due to a number 
of new tenders unable to be completed before the 
year-end

• Benefits of $2.2m achieved working with DHB CIOs 
to enhance the All-of-Government contract with 
Microsoft for the benefit of the Sector

•  Collective Insurance benefits target exceeded by 
$2.4m including the addition of new cyber and 
environmental insurance cover for DHBs. 

A key impact for the year's results was the FPIM 
Impairment. Our Board agreed to further impair the book 
value of the FPIM asset by $32.9m.

It's important to note that 84% of the impairment related to 
expenditure incurred by our predecessor, Health Benefits 
Limited (HBL).

While this has had a negative financial outcome for the 
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year, it provides a solid financial base from which to 
complete the programme's deployment to the 10 DHBs 
supported by the common IT infrastructure and the 
development of a National Catalogue for all DHBs.

Our relationships

Two key milestones for our company included Cabinet 
approval for the FPIM Business Case and receiving 
endorsement for the first integrated, multi-year National 
Procurement Plan. 

Neither of these could have been achieved without 
transparent, solution-focused shareholder, customer and 
stakeholder conversations.

Our relationships span central Government, 20 DHBs, 
regional and national agencies including PHARMAC, 
key vendors such as BNZ, Marsh, Compass Group New 
Zealand and Oracle New Zealand, as well as medical 
device suppliers. We worked hard to collaborate and 
engage as often, and effectively, as possible to achieve 
mutually beneficial outcomes. 

We will ensure this continues and, in fact, bring an even 
sharper focus to engagement as we put customers at the 
heart of all we do in the year ahead.

Our organisation

Our people remain fully committed to delivering to our 
current commitments in our Statement of Performance 
Expectations 2019/20. 

Our top priority is to maximise the benefits we deliver 
today. In partnership and consultation with others we will 
look to build for tomorrow at the appropriate point. 

I thank each of our people for their resilience and 
ongoing professional commitment to our organisation, 
shareholders and the wider Sector.

Our year ahead

While focusing on today, we are embarking on what may 
prove to be the defining year in this company’s history. 
A sense of purpose and professional energy across our 
business can already be felt; we will harness this to map 
the way forward. 

It is with enthusiasm, energy and professionalism that 
we look towards a positive and successful 2019/20 and 
beyond. 

Steve Fisher

Benefits of  

 $2.2m  
achieved working with DHB CIOs to enhance 

the All-of-Government contract with Microsoft 
for the benefit of the Sector

This year's  
ANNUALISED  

BENEFITS include:

Target of  

$17.2m
Benefits delivered  

$16.6m

Collective Insurance  
benefits of  

$4.9m  

against target of 

$2.5m 
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FPIM GO LIVE  
July 2018

Bay of Plenty, Canterbury, 
Waikato, West Coast

COLLABORATION

NZHP, DHB CFOs & 
Marsh, international & 
national presentations

SECTOR’s FIRST  
integrated multi-year  

National Procurement Plan 
developed

FPIM 
BUSINESS 

CASE 
Over the line – 

Cabinet approval 

$2.7m  
procurement total in-year 

budgetary benefits 

$4.9m  
COLLECTIVE INSURANCE 

BENEFITS 

UP   
$1.3m

$4.0m  

for Shared Banking 
benefits

PROGRESSING
medical device  

ownership transition 
collaborating with 

PHARMAC

8/10 rating 

DHBs’ finance teams’ customer service 
survey for Shared Banking

Microsoft 
H2018 completed 
health negotiation 

 
$2.2m benefits

DataHub 
Move to the cloud = 
security & efficiency

OUR 2019 at a glance

Collective Insurance 
exceeded benefits target by  

$2.4m

8            NZHP ANNUAL REPORT 2019

$16.6m  
total benefits  

to DHBs

UP   
$2.2m
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DHB  
National  

Procurement  
Policy 

100% 
 AGREEMENT

$5.4m  
NATIONAL 

PROCUREMENT 
BENEFITS

INSURANCE 
COVER OF 

$19b  
for DHB assets

PEOPLE 
ENGAGEMENT 

Active Listening and 
Managing Change 

workshops for senior 
leaders

UPSKILLING
Launched  

Communicating  
for Success  

learning series

OUR 2019 at a glance

BNZ Shared  
Banking Service. 

Final 4 DHBs 
transitioned on time

NZHP ANNUAL REPORT 2019            9
NOTE: 'Benefits' refers to annualised budgetary and non-budgetary benefits attributable to NZHP
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Our purpose

We enable DHBs to collectively maximise 
shared services opportunities for the national 
good, supporting each DHB to serve its 
community and achieve strategic objectives.

NZ Health Partnerships (NZHP) is a multi-
parent Crown-entity subsidiary and limited 
liability company, that is supported and 
owned by New Zealand’s 20 DHBs – our 
shareholders, co-creators and customers.

Our work

We collaborate with DHBs to identify, develop 
and implement initiatives for the Sector’s 
benefit. By thinking, acting and investing 
collaboratively, DHBs can achieve greater 
benefits than they would by operating 
independently.

Our initiatives focus on creating financial 
efficiencies for DHBs to counteract Sector 
pressures such as an aging population, the 
increasing costs of new clinical equipment, 
and growing public demand.

But, what we do is much more than cost 
reduction. While the company’s primary focus 
is on administrative, support and procurement 
activities, most of our work has direct or 
indirect clinical implications. 

Our relationships

We are a relationship-focused organisation 
that works hard to develop, grow and maintain 
strategic relationships across the Sector. 

As well as DHBs, we work closely with other 
organisations including the Ministry of Health, 
PHARMAC, NZ Government Procurement 
(NZGP), Treasury New Zealand, Department 
of Internal Affairs (DIA), commercial 
organisations and other Health Sector shared 
services organisations. 
 
Critical to our relationships is a proactive 
engagement approach across a variety of 
digital platforms, forums and events, being 
on site at the DHBs, and directly engaging 
through our day-to-day conversations.

Our people

Our team of dedicated specialists brings a 
wealth of knowledge drawn from procurement 
and data fields across the private and public 
sectors, including Health.

Our people – doing great things

WHO  
WE ARE

As a Crown-entity subsidiary and limited liability company, we need to comply 
with a variety of legislation including, but not limited, to:

•  Commerce Act 1986
•  Companies Act 1993
•  Crown Entities Act 2004
•  Employment Relations Act 2000
•  Human Rights Act 1993
•  Holidays Act 2003
•  Health and Safety at Work Act 2015
•  New Zealand Public Health and  

Disability Act 2000

•  Official Information Act 1982
•  Ombudsmen Act 1975
•  Privacy Act 1993 and related codes 

ie Health Information Privacy Code  
1994

•  Protected Disclosures Act 2000
•  Public Audit Act 2001
•  Public Finance Act 1989
•  Public Records Act 2005. 

Statutory and compliance requirements
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Our award winners for the year – Performance Excellence and Values in Action – include:  
(From left) Anil Sharma; GRANT MCGREGOR; JP van der Walt; STEPHEN MAFFEY; John Baydee;  
JUSTINE BANFIELD; Janet Emery; MAHDIA RAJAIY; Maureen Crombie; TANIA MCGORRELL;  
Angela McCullough; JACQUE LLOYD; Kathryn Scott; STEPHANIE REGNIER; Royce Pritchard;  
LANE FELISE; Renee Yu; HOSEIN DERHAMY; Ghaarith Chota; CORINNE GADDIE.

Patient outcomes are at the heart of 
our organisation and operations.”
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OUR BOARD

TERRY MCLAUGHLIN  
Chair  |  Independent Director 
|  Finance Risk and Audit 
Committee Member and  
Remuneration Committee 
Chair

Terry is Chief Executive of Pacific 
Radiology. An experienced finance 
executive with strengths in audit 
and contracts and performance 
evaluation, Terry has extensive 
expertise across both the public 
and private sectors. 

PETER ANDERSON   
Independent Director  |  
Finance Risk and Audit 
Committee Member and 
Remuneration Committee 
Member

Peter was Chair of Foodstuffs 
North Island Limited and has 
20 years’ experience working in 
a cooperative environment at 
Foodstuffs. During his career, 
Peter has held a variety of 
operational and executive roles. 

KEVIN ATKINSON   
DHB Director for the Central 
Region  |  Remuneration 
Committee Member

Kevin is Chair of Hawke’s Bay 
DHB, Chair of Unison Network 
and Director of Hawke’s Bay 
Rugby Union. He has a strong 
technology background and 
founded software company 
Information Management 
Services Ltd in 1983, which 
was sold 
to MYOB 
in October 
2015.

PAULINE LOCKETT  
DHB Director for the 
Midlands Region  |  Finance 
Risk and Audit Committee 
Chair

Pauline is Chair of Taranaki 
DHB and Chair of the Ngati Te 
Whiti Whenua Topu Trust. She 
was a partner with PwC for 20 
years. Pauline’s commercial 
experience includes 
Directorship of Landcorp 
Farming Limited for six years. 

RON LUXTON   
DHB Director for the 
Southern Region  |  Finance 
Risk and Audit Committee 
Member

Ron is Chair of South Canterbury 
DHB and Aoraki MRI Charitable 
Trust. He is a pharmacist with 
more than 40 years’ experience 
as a frontline primary healthcare 
worker.

SALLY MACAULEY   
DHB Director for the 
Northern Region

Sally is Chair of the Northland 
DHB and Chair of Public Health 
and Disabilities Advisory 
Committee. She has many 
years’ commitment to the 
Health Sector and is very active 
within Northland’s community, 
including Council and various 
Northland-based Trusts.

NOTE: Activities are underway to fill the vacancy 
for an Independent Director on the NZ Health 
Partnerships Board.
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OUR  LEADERSHIP TEAM

STEVE FISHER   
Chief Executive

Steve provides us with 
overall operational and 
strategic leadership. 
His previous General 
Manager roles at the 
company include 
driving our strategy 
and organisational 
performance, as 
well our People and 
Communications 
teams. Steve has 
a consulting and 
communications 
background and 
has previously been 
Managing Director of 
two organisations.

GRANT MCGREGOR  
GM Corporate & 
Finance 

Grant is responsible 
for producing our 
disclosure documents 
and reports and 
delivering the Shared 
Banking and Collective 
Insurance services. 
He is an experienced 
executive and has 
held senior leadership 
roles as CFO, CEO, 
independent director, 
advisor and banker.

HAYLEY GREATWOOD  
GM Procurement 
(Acting)

Hayley oversees our 
National Procurement 
service. She brings 
more than 20 years’ 
management and 
leadership experience 
in procurement 
and supply chain 
programme 
management from 
financial services 
and consumer goods 
industries. 

KATHRYN SCOTT   
Manager People and 
Engagement

Kathryn leads 
our People and 
Engagement team, 
focusing on capability 
development, 
leadership and 
coaching to drive a 
progressive culture. 
She also manages the 
Human Resources and 
Communications and 
Engagement teams. 
Kathryn has over nine 
years’ experience in 
the Health Sector and 
has worked at large, 
complex organisations 
in the public and private 
sectors.
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FINANCIAL OVERVIEW

NZ Health Partnerships (NZHP) operates on a cost recovery basis: we aim to match our revenue 
with our expenses and budget to break-even. DHBs provide the majority of our revenue to fund the 
programme and services we provide on their behalf.

Our 2018/19 budgeted revenue and expenses were both $30.8m, targeting a break-even budget.

Our actual revenue for 2018/19 was $34.3m, $3.5m favorable to budget with $3.7m additional interest revenue 
resulting from higher than forecast cash balances during the year in the cash offset facility operated by NZHP on behalf 
of the Sector, as provider of the Shared Banking Service.  

Our actual expenses for 2018/19 were $72.4m, $41.6m adverse to budget with unbudgeted expenditure including:

•  Above budget interest revenue – $3.5m above budget interest expense paid to DHBs, attributable to the above 
budget interest revenue earned through the Shared Banking service

•  FPIM Business Case – $600k for preparing a revised FPIM Programme Business Case as required by Cabinet 

•  FPIM Programme asset – $5.7m unfunded amortisation charge relating to the FPIM Programme asset 

•  FPIM Programme asset impairment – $32.9m impairment of the FPIM Programme asset resulting from 
the revised business case, with a reduction in expected benefits given the recommendation that the FPIM 
Programme is now only being progressed by 10, rather than the original 20 DHBs.

This resulted in a $38m deficit for the financial year, all of which is attributed to the FPIM Programme amortisation and 
asset impairment.
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DHBs  
as shareholders 
and customers

ALIGN

VALUEPEOPLE

PROCESS

DELIVERY

RESULTS – examples

PEOPLE: Skilled and engaged people focused on the needs of our customers 
•  Delivered leadership initiatives including the Leading Performance Programme for the   
 executive leadership team and people leaders, with workshops on advanced listening skills 
 and leading through change.

PROCESS: Shareholders trust our organisational capability 
•  Developed a draft Legislative Compliance Framework, including draft Legislative Compliance  
 Policy and associated work programme to implement, evaluate and maintain the framework  
 in accordance with global ISO standards. This work programme (with a 2019/2020 focus)  
 aims to provide overall company/shareholder comfort that we will continue to act lawfully  
 and in accordance with our legal obligations.

DELIVERY: Quality delivery of existing programmes and services 
•  Worked on improvement initiatives to support us to better lead best practice around   
 procurement including receiving approval for the National Procurement Plan. 

 
•  Delivered efficiencies and operational savings for DHBs by transitioning the final four DHBs  
 to a single banking service provided as part of the Shared Banking Service.

ALIGN: Aligned with shareholders, building trust and agility 
•  Developed stakeholder engagement skills including personal listening, with a strong   
 relationship focus on key stakeholder groups. This will enable us to improve communications  
 across both internal and external channels and platforms. It also enables our people to better  
 understand and ‘hear’ our customers’ voice. 

 •  Achieved Cabinet approval for the new Health Finance, Procurement and Information   
 Management System (FPIM) Business Case, following 12 months of extensive stakeholder  
 engagement to ensure DHBs’ voices were heard and expectations aligned to FPIM’s   
 objectives.   

VALUE: Generating sustainable value for shareholders.  
•  Our Collective Insurance Service team collaborated with our insurance broker to insure $19b 
 of DHB property, delivering collective benefits of $4.9m. 

 •  The Shared Banking Service team – which delivered $4.0 million benefits to DHBs – is valued  
 by the DHBs and MoH.  

OUR STRATEGIC BUSINESS PLAN

We are committed to delivering initiatives that offer value to our shareholders 
– the 20 District Health Boards (DHBs) – to support the Sector to provide 
better healthcare to New Zealanders. 

To achieve this, we are guided by our Strategic Business Plan 2016-2019. The 
plan has five workstreams to guide organisational performance improvement:

NZ Health Partnerships Strategic 
Business Plan 2016 - 2019

KEYPOINT: While we 
have delivered upon 
these workstreams, 
the company reviews 
– Project FOCUS (For 
our Customers and US) 
and the Shareholders 
Review Group (SRG) 
– impacted progress/
implementation. 
Some activities 
under the Statement 
of Performance 
Expectations 2018/19 
were put on hold, 
pending the outcome of 
the SRG. The company 
continued to focus on 
core business activities 
to ensure continuity of 
service to the DHBs.
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Opportunity

NZ Health Partnerships (NZHP) identified a need to 
standardise the product range and rationalise the 
supplier base for non-sterile examination gloves 
(medical category), through a national request for 
proposal.

Challenge

DHBs operate independently with diverse clinical 
requirements and operating models, making national 
projects complex to coordinate and evaluate. 

As well as impacting decision-making, budget control 
and timelines significantly, it requires a high degree of 
stakeholder engagement.

Across the Sector, there are varied approaches 
to procurement to deliver benefits to address the 
funding gap and deliver better patient care, including 
collaborative, syndicate, collective, local and national.  

Solution

We created an NZHP cross-functional 
procurement team to lead the project, 
including specialist category 
management, analyst, governance 
and operations roles. 

We also established a reference 
group, consisting of representatives 
from multiple clinical backgrounds and 
DHBs’ representatives. This group quickly 
identified that evaluation should be 
driven by health outcomes. 

Based on clinical imperatives these included quality, 
safety, standardisation and sustainability, reducing 
procurement costs and delivering a return on investment 
for DHBs. These measures enabled the project team to 
bring the group back to the project goals. 

Guided by our commitment to patient safety, the 
team also identified a diverse range of stakeholders 
and planned an intensive engagement approach, 
supported by an analytical methodology. 

Outcomes

• DHB clinicians and supply chain teams 
gained efficiencies – particularly DHBs 
without resources or in-house expertise 
to implement across a range of 
specifications and multiple suppliers

• Achieved 6% savings on current spend, 
with the opportunity of an additional 15% if 

a DHB chooses to purchase a lower cost 
equivalent product 

• Attained consensus from all 20 DHBs 
around the spend baseline via development of the 
specification and supply analysis tool

• Reduced category suppliers from 20 to four

• Developed a simple and effective, analysis tool 
for each DHB to quickly identify a cost savings and 
substitution for further savings (subject to clinical 
approval) – this tool can be used across other goods 
categories

CASE STUDY Medical gloves

OUR CUSTOMER CASE STUDIES

Esré Bezuidenhout,  
Category Manager

What our customers say… 

“I found the engagement with 
NZHP to be of high standard. 
I didn’t finish the process 
feeling like we had missed a 
vital piece of information, or 
feeling like we should have 
done something differently. The 
process went smoothly, and 
NZHP respected the expertise 
of all the participants.”  
– DHB Catalogue Administrator 
 
“This was amazing work.”

“This was something the 
industry needed and wanted.”
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Opportunity

All DHBs send purchasing information to NZ Health 
Partnerships (NZHP), which we load and consolidate 
so our analysts can prepare reports used by 
PHARMAC and NZHP to understand national category 
and DHB spending.

Challenge
When DataHub was moved to NZHP it was housed 
at NZHP’s office. The team identified potential data 
security risks. 

Solution
We initiated a project to migrate the system to the 
Cloud where data security could be assured. The 
project was completed successfully with minimum 
downtime for our end users. The Cloud also provides 
better performance. 

In addition, it provides access to Cloud vendors such 
as Oracle Cloud Analytics, giving advanced data 

analytics and better report development and sharing. 
It now takes a third of the time to write a report, 
reducing bottlenecks and downtime.

Outcomes
•  Increased data security 
•  Faster access to data 
•  Richer report development environment 
•  Better procurement opportunities

CASE STUDY  
DataHub – data security

What our customers say… 

“It’s most definitely quicker to 
return results.”

“I’ve done some testing with 
some ‘more than basic’ SQL 
queries and found that there has 
definitely been an improvement 
in data retrieval and extraction.”
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Opportunity

NZ Health Partnerships (NZHP) published a 
revised national request for proposal (RFP) seeking 
submissions for seven PPE subcategories. 

We received an overwhelming response from 
suppliers. The sheer volume and complexity of 
product information from our RFP meant we needed 
a more robust approach to undertake a fair and 
vigorous evaluation. 

Challenge

The RFP provided us with around 150 existing 
items and 750 new product options, with numerous 
designs and quality possibilities. It was impossible 
to evaluate such a wide product range and provide 
a thorough review. We needed to devise a unique 
solution to cope with the volume and complexity of 
product information.

Solution 

A special project team was formed with members 
from DHBs and suppliers. We broke the evaluation 
process into four stages and then created smaller 
teams. This meant we could further categorise the 
products into 35 sub-categories.

Next, we worked with the project team to assign 
separate evaluation stages, ensuring the evaluation 
was completed on time. Tasks were allocated 
according individuals’ strengths to minimise any 
margin for error.

Following the evaluation process, we engaged with 
suppliers to discuss master agreements. These were 
65-page documents with important clauses; which 
many of the suppliers were not used to. 

We negotiated 10 master agreements and 11 supply 
schedules. 

Outcomes

•  Reduced costs by $750k, with opportunities for  
 further cost reduction through substitution

•  Increased supply chain efficiency through  
 inventory consolidation 

•  Reduced risk of out of stock items

CASE STUDY  
Personal Protective 
Equipment (PPE)

What our customers say… 

“The PPE initiative provided 
good communication as 
to what stage we were at 
throughout the evaluation. 
NZHP was always prompt in 
responding to any questions I 
had, which I found to be very 
helpful. The way in which the 
information was provided was 
excellent, very easy to evaluate 
and send back.” – Sharon Daly, 
Health & Safety Co-ordinator, 
Hawke's Bay DHB

OUR CUSTOMER CASE STUDIES
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People management 

Our people are at the centre of our organisation – what they do helps 
drive and deliver the best value outcomes to our shareholders and, 
more broadly, to the Health Sector every single day.

People is one of our Strategic Business Plan’s five workstreams and 
is supported by our People Strategy (2016-2019). Fundamental to this 
strategy is building skilled and engaged teams to further equip them to 
deliver the company’s programme and services to the DHBs.

Our diverse team

As of 30 June 2019, we had 35 permanent and 10 fixed-term 
employees, representing 44 full-time equivalent roles. 

We recognise the value a diverse workforce brings to an organisation. 
Our recruitment strategy includes local and international sourcing, 
resulting in a highly multi-cultural workforce. 

NZ Health Partnerships (NZHP) joined Diversity Works, New Zealand’s 
national body for workplace diversity and inclusion, demonstrating our 
commitment to diversity. 

Our performance

Our Performance Leadership Framework is an integrated,  
organisation-wide approach to employee performance and 
development. It aligns an individual’s performance to achieving team 
and organisational goals, and includes monthly coaching discussions. 
This framework applies to permanent employees and fixed-term 
contractors (minimum six months). 

Developing our people

Our Leading Performance Programme for the executive leadership 
team and people leaders included workshops on advanced listening 
skills and leading through change. Regular learning  opportunities for 
all people were provided through our monthly Lunch & Learn series and 
the introduction of a modular Communicating for Success programme. 

We continued our participation in the New Zealand Government 
Procurement (NZGP) graduate and intern programme, with a graduate 
working at NZHP on a six-month procurement secondment. 

Engaging with our people

This year has been one of change and uncertainty regarding the future 
of the organisation. We have worked to support and retain our people 

ORGANISATIONAL HEALTH

Growing talent 
Mangala Kasongo, NZGP Graduate

“When I started at NZ Health Partnerships, 

I had a very limited understanding of what 

the procurement function was. My time 

here enabled me to amass a wealth of 

understanding and practical knowledge 

about this important area of business for 

Government.

“Being able to work so closely with 
the team taught me the importance 
of stakeholder engagement and 
relationship management. The 
skills I’ve learnt will help me on my 
Procurement Graduate Programme 
journey – from here, I’ll be able to run 
an end-to-end procurement process. 

“A highlight has been the opportunity to 

work on a variety of projects, alongside 

category managers. Working in the Health 

Sector is both challenging and rewarding 

– being able to work with people who 

are genuinely passionate about making 

a difference in every way possible, 

through procurement, has taught me a 

huge amount as a professional and an 

individual.” 

 

Our people tell us they enjoy a variety 
of engagement activities – Team Days, 
online suggestion box, weekly fruit 
boxes, regular social events and shared 
Global Eats lunches.”
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through regular communication, promoting the availability of the 
Employee Assistance Programme and upskilling our executive and 
people leaders around leading change. 

To follow up and better understand our people engagement survey’s 
results, we ran research through an external agency. Our people were 
interviewed by telephone and via an online survey. Feedback helped us 
shape and deliver a programme of engagement activities. 

Health, safety and wellbeing 

Our priority is to focus on improving our health and safety culture, while 
embedding legislation and policy. 

Our well-established Health, Safety and Wellbeing Committee provides 
quarterly reports to Finance, Risk and Audit Committee (FRAC) and our 
Board.

As part of this, all new people receive health and safety briefings; 16 
managers and committee members attended health and safety workshops; 
and, two health and safety representatives were appointed and trained. 

There were no notifiable events, however there were four injuries, all of 
which are resolved. Additionally, there were 13 hazards identified and 
resolved or with plans in place. 

Another way we measure the state of the organisation’s health, safety 
and wellbeing is the amount of absences due to sick leave. We have an 
2.97% average sick/total work days, comparable to the public sector.

Achieving our goals 

The company has been under review since September 2018. 

The first review was known as Project FOCUS. The purpose was to 
carry out a comprehensive review to develop a target operating model 
to more effectively fulfil the company’s purpose and deliver greater 
value for each DHB.

In February, our shareholders asked for Project FOCUS to be paused 
and be replaced by the DHB-led Shareholders Review Group, which the 
Executive Leadership Team and others helped support and facilitate. 

 
   

Health, safety and 
wellbeing matters … 

“… to me because keeping people 
safe and well at work is good 
for our people and good for our 
organisation.” Kathryn Scott, People 
& Engagement Manager (H&S Chair)

“… because my son asked me one 
day: ‘Dad your company is on the 
news again, is it good news or bad 
news?’ Unfortunately, it was bad 
news, somebody was hurt at (my 
previous) work and that incident 
should never have happened.” 
Alistair Baxter, Procurement – 
Category Manager

 “… as it directly impacts on the 
wellbeing of our employees, as well 
as productivity levels. We spend 
the majority of our day/life at work 
and we have the right to be happy, 
healthy and safe.” Komal Nand, 
Corporate Solicitor

“… because all employees 
have the right to feel safe and 
protected in the workplace. Having 
an approachable committee 
is important so workers feel 
comfortable to raise any concerns 
and/or issues to promote wellness 
of both employers and employers.” 
Aimee Aspinall, Implementation 
Support Consultant  

“... because being safe at work is 
the top most priority, everything 
else comes after. I enjoy creating 
a happy and safe environment for 
all of us.” Sahana Rao, Treasury & 
Finance Analyst

Our H&S committee: 
Sahana, Aimee, Stephen 

and Kathryn (back), 
Komal and Alistair.
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STATEMENT OF  
PERFORMANCE 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019
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OUR PERFORMANCE

Our Statement of Performance Expectations 2018/19 (SPE) sets out 
measures and targets that we monitor and report against on a quarterly 
basis throughout the financial year. 

Our Annual Report captures year-end results including organisational 
improvements around our company goals.

Performance Management Framework 

We have a Performance Management Framework that ensures we monitor and report against 
our strategic goals. 

In turn, we deliver the best possible programmes and services to our shareholders, while having 
the right processes and systems in place to actively identify new and better ways to deliver our 
programme and services.

Assessing our performance
As outlined in our SPE, we assess our performance as achieved, substantially achieved, 
progressed, not achieved or not started.

How our Performance  
Management Framework works

Strategic  
Business Plan 
4 Year Horizon

Defines direction setting, building 
organisational capacity, allocation 
of resources and decision making

Statement of Intent
4 Year Horizon (min)

Sets out strategic objectives, 
nature & scope, how it will 
deliver, capability, performance 
assessment

Statement of 
Performance 
Expectations (SPE)
1 Year Horizon

Sets out what will be delivered, risk 
management, how performance 
will be assessed, financial forecast

Organisational Plan
1 Year Horizon

Tracks activity monthly to deliver 
milestones against the Strategic 
and Annual Plans

Performance 
Development Plans
1 Year Horizon

Sets out performance 
objectives to support delivery of  
Organisational Plan

 EXTERNAL                            

ANNUAL REPORT
Reports against SPE  

It is informed by the Organisational Plan’s results

INTERNAL                          
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NZ Health Partnerships Performance Assessment Ratings

Performance Rating Description

Achieved Target met or exceeded

Substantially Achieved Target not achieved by a very slim margin

Progressed Target not met, but work has progressed

Not Achieved Target not achieved

Not Started Work has not started 

 
Across our two output classes and management services we have 14 performance measures in the 
Statement of Performance Expectations (SPE) 2018/19 document. Our overall performance result for  
Q4 ending 30 June 2019 against these measures are:

NZ Health Partnerships overall 2018/19 year-end performance

Achieved
Substantially 

achieved
Progressed Not started Not achieved

36% 
5 of 14

7% 
1 of 14

29% 
4 of 14

21% 
3 of 14

7% 
1 of 14

PROGRAMME

Finance Procurement and 
Information Management System

25% 
Achieved

75% 
Not 

Started                                            

1 of 4 3 of 4
SERVICES

National Procurement 50% 
Achieved

25% 
Progressed

25% 
Not 

Achieved

2 of 4 1 of 4 1 of 4

Shared Banking 50% 
Achieved

50% 
Progressed

1 of 2 1 of 2

Collective Insurance 50% 
Achieved

50% 
Substantially 

Achieved

1 of 2 1 of 2
MANAGEMENT
Organisational Capability 100% 

Progressed

2 of 2

NOTE: The four FPIM measures were planned before we were directed by Government to pause the programme and develop 
a new Business Case. Pending the Government decision on the FPIM Business Case, the three programme-related measures 
and targets were considered inactive and tracked as ‘not started’ throughout the financial year. 

OVERALL RESULTS

KeyPOINT
We achieved or substantially achieved 43% of our 
performance goals this year. Some goals under 
the SPE 2018/19 were placed on hold pending the 
outcome of the Shareholders Review Group, and 
as a result of the pause of the FPIM programme. 
The company continued to focus on core business 
activities to ensure continuity of service to the 
DHBs. 
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PROGRAMME

The final FPIM operating model, including long-term 
responsibility for the programme and service is 
expected to be determined by end-2019."

Health Finance, Procurement and Information  
Management System (FPIM)
FPIM sponsor: Shayne Hunter | Deputy Director-General Data and Digital | Ministry of Health

KeyPOINTS

1 Positive Treasury New Zealand 

Gateway Review Report provided 

overall amber rating for the FPIM  

 Business Case 

2 20 DHBs endorsed FPIM Business 

Case 

3 Cabinet approved the FPIM 

Business Case 

4 The FPIM software successfully 

went live at four DHBs – Bay of 

Plenty, Canterbury, Waikato, and  

 West Coast 

5  The FPIM Service, responsible  

 for IT support, system and service  

 enhancements and master data  

 services, has been live for  

 12 months 

6  Managed several strategic   

 stakeholder engagement   

 initiatives including workshops  

 with key stakeholders, CEO  

 forums, and meetings as well  

 as direct engagement to identify  

 and resolves issues

FPIM, previously known as the National Oracle Solution 
(NOS), is the Oracle-based software and hardware that 
supports DHBs’ day-to-day finance, procurement and 
supply chain operations. The software manages how 
goods and services are sourced, ordered, delivered, 
stored, used and paid for. The hardware keeps the 
systems stable and secure. 
In June 2018, Cabinet paused the hardware build and initiated rollout 
to only four DHBs pending completion of a revised business case.

On 2 July 2018, the FPIM software was implemented in four 
DHBs – Bay of Plenty, Canterbury, Waikato, and West Coast. These 
DHBs are supported by an FPIM Service (data management and IT 
support) which is progressively implementing a range of process and 
functionality enhancements. 

In June 2019, Cabinet approved a new FPIM Business Case and 
reinitiated the programme. The IT infrastructure to support the first 
four DHBs and six others that will also move to the FPIM system will be 
developed over the next 24 months.

A high-level design of the National Catalogue that will support all 20 
DHBs, will be completed by December 2019.

What FPIM does
•  Delivers procurement savings – ensuring DHBs get the best 

value for money from the products and services they purchase

•  Addresses risks from end-of-life systems

•  Improves supply chain management

•  Contributes to better informed decision-making

•  Progresses more efficient finance, procurement and supply 
chain operations
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Our results
FPIM performance measures, targets and results 2018/19

NOTE: In June, the NZHP Board approved SPE 2018/19 including the four FPIM measures – Governance, Programme 
Scope, Programme Budget and Programme Timeline. This was finalised before Government’s decision to pause further FPIM 
programme work and develop a new business case.

Achieved
Substantially 

achieved
Progressed Not started Not achieved

RESULT PERFORMANCE MEASURE TARGET DATE

1 Governance  
An effective and industry standard governance process is in place 
and maintained throughout the life of the project.

Quality 
Timeliness

30 June 
2019

COMMENTARY

Effective governance.The Ministry of Health (MoH) appointed a Governance Board and authorised it to initiate 
the FPIM Programme. The Board is chaired by the Director General of Health and includes representation 
from PHARMAC, Treasury of New Zealand, DHBs and an independent member. In May, this Board resolved to 
transfer responsibility for FPIM Programme to MoH on an interim basis to support programme and service 
delivery. This industry standard governance process will be maintained throughout the life of the project.

2 Programme scope. The FPIM programme is delivered, within the 
agreed scope and is subject to a formal change control process.

Quality 
Timeliness

30 June 
2019

3 Programme budget. The FPIM programme is delivered, within the 
agreed budget and is subject to a formal change control process.

Quality 
Timeliness

30 June 
2019

4 Programme timeline. The FPIM programme is delivered, within the 
agreed timeline and is subject to a formal change control process.

Quality 
Timeliness

30 June 
2019

COMMENTARY
In June 2018, NZHP’s Board approved the SPE 2018/19 including these four performance measures. The 
SPE was finalised before Government’s decision to pause further FPIM Programme work and develop a new 
business case. 

FPIM Programme scope, budget and timeline measures and targets are rated as ‘not started’ for reasons 
outside NZHP’s control. 

FPIM Programme pause. Following the go-live for four DHBs, Cabinet required NZHP to pause work on 
the remainder of the FPIM Programme, including standing-up the National Technology Solution (NTS) 
infrastructure, planning the migration of the FPIM system on to the new NTS infrastructure, and planning for 
deployment of the new FPIM system to other DHBs. Any costs related to pausing the remainder of the FPIM 
Programme were required to be met from within our financial baseline.

NZHP developed an FPIM Programme Business Case, overseen by MoH with support from Treasury New 
Zealand, and the Office of the Government Chief Digital Officer. This revised business case was endorsed by all 
20 DHBs and approved by Cabinet in June 2019.

Transfer of FPIM Programme responsibilities. In May, MoH assumed interim operational responsibility for the 
FPIM Programme including accountability for the programme’s scope, budget and timeline. The transfer of the 
FPIM Programme responsibilities involved seconding some NZHP staff members to MoH until December 2019. 

It is expected that the final FPIM Programme operating model, including long-term responsibility for the 
programme and service, will be known by end-2019.
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PROGRAMME

The Health Finance, Procurement and Information 

Management System (FPIM) actively invested in 

recruiting specialists to drive and deliver results 

to participating District Health Boards (DHBs). Key 

to this was focusing on building FPIM’s Service 

team, including appointing Phil Unsworth to 

implement and lead the new service function. 

Phil has developed some of the most advanced 

technology programmes in New Zealand, 

including being a member of the Spark Service 

Delivery Leadership team. As part of this, he was 

involved in introducing Service Level Management 

practices across the wider business. He was also 

the Manager Customer Services at Waikato DHB, 

where he developed a strategic plan for IT Service 

Management across the DHB. Placing emphasis 

on relationships and engagement, Phil brings a 

passion for service excellence. 

SNAPSHOT

Investing to benefit FPIM

Phil Unsworth,  
Service Delivery Manager

PROGRAMME

BUILD
National 

Technology 
Solution

SERVICE

INSIGHTS
National 

Catalogue &  
Data Service

OUTCOMES

   Build: shared 
infrastructure

   Develop: deferred 
functionality

   Migrate:  
Wave One &  
Wave Two

  Systems and 
analysis to support 
value for money 
procurement

   Equity of  
access products  
& services

 DHBs:
• 3 regions
• 73% of population
• Over 80% of spend

  National shared 
product & services 
catalogue 

   Common chart  
of accounts 

   Data standards  
& reporting 

   Purchasing 
compliance

 DHBs  DHBs

SERVICE
Enhancements  

& support

 DHBs

   Support and 
enhance DHBs’ 
finance, procurement 
& supply chain 
systems

   Service Strategy 
& Identification 
of Opportunity 
for further value 
creation

 RISK management:  
by addressing risk from  
end-of-life systems

 Procurement SAVINGS: 
through increasing value 
for money; compliance 
& consistency; benefits 
beyond medical devices

 Increased VISIBILITY: 
enabling better informed 
decision making

 EFFICIENCY gains: 
through improved 
processes and 
opportunities via  
shared services

 IMPROVE supply chain: 
through better data

DESIGN  
& BUILD
National  

Catalogue
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WHAT HAS HAPPENED?

•  The NZHP Board agreed to further 
impair the book value of the FPIM 
asset by $32.9m as at 30 June 2019

•  84% of the impairment related to 
expenditure incurred by the previous 
entity, HBL

•  This judgement was made following 
work done by an advisory group 
from the Sector, assisted by an 
independent accounting firm

WHAT HAS CHANGED?

•  Costs and benefits were revised 

FPIM impairment  – SUMMARY

  Actual Budget Actual

2018/19 2018/19 2017/18

$000s $000s $000s

Revenue:      

FPIM Programme 8,980 9,036 7,528

National Infrastructure Platform 0 0 672

Microsoft H2018 0 0 335

Total programme revenue 8,980 9,036 8,535

 

Expenditure:  

FPIM Programme 47,700 9,036 13,547

National Infrastructure Platform 168 0 241

Microsoft H2018 139 0 335

Total expenditure 48,007 9,036 14,123

Surplus / (Deficit) (39,027) 0 (5,588)

       
FPIM Programme – Revenue for the FPIM Programme was in line with budget after allowing $600k for additional revenue 
from First Wave DHBs towards FPIM Service support, offset by a $656k revenue reduction from DHBs in relation to FPIM 
operational costs. FPIM expenditure includes unbudgeted expenditure for:

• Impairment of intangibles in relation to the FPIM programme asset $32.9m

• Amortisation of intangibles in relation to the FPIM programme asset $5.7m

• Preparation of a revised FPIM Business Case required by Cabinet $600k

• FPIM Service support cost for Wave One DHBs post 31 December 2018 of $1.2m.

FPIM Programme and National Procurement expenditure – The 2017/18 comparatives have been amended from those 
shown in the Annual Report 2018, where the FPIM Programme expenditure stated as $11.564m has been increased by 
$1.983m that was incorrectly included in the National Procurement service expense. A corresponding $1.983m decrease 
has been made to the National Procurement service expense comparative. 

National Infrastructure Platform – The National Infrastructure Platform expenditure relates to a change in timing for 
expected service credits resulting in a fair value adjustment.

Microsoft H2018 – Expenditure relates to additional costs pertaining to negotiating the Microsoft contract on behalf of 
the Sector.

PROGRAMME:  
Financial Perspective

following the completion of the FPIM 
Business Case, impacting on net 
present value over the project life

•  Recognition was made that the 
preferred business case option was 
for 10 DHBs, rather than all 20

•  Historic spend was re-assessed in 
light of the practical experience of 
FPIM, which has been running for a 
year at the four DHBs

WHERE TO FROM HERE?

•  This impairment is a final  
clean-up of the financials  

inherited from HBL, with FPIM 
successfully deployed in a  
pared back functional scope

• It provides a solid financial 
base from which to commit 
$41m of future capex (including 
29% contingency) to complete 
deployment of FPIM to 10 
DHBs supported by the NTS 
infrastructure

•  This mitigates significant systems 
risk at those DHBs and enables 
over 80% of Sector spend to flow 
through on one common finance 
and procurement system
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Our National Procurement team provides a systematic 
approach to procuring clinical and indirect products and 
services for all DHBs.The DHB Procurement Strategy 
provides benefits to DHBs and is supported by a DHB 
Procurement Engagement, Category Strategy and Policy.

We also deliver contract management for the Food 
Services Agreement with Compass Group New 
Zealand, on behalf of participating DHBs – Auckland, 
Waitemata, Counties Manukau, Hauora Tairāwhiti, Nelson 
Marlborough and Southern.
This year, National Procurement received direction from New Zealand 
Government Procurement (NZGP) and PHARMAC on procurement 
plans and priorities. The team also collaborated and consulted with 
all DHBs to develop the Sector’s first multi-year rolling National 
Procurement Plan 2019-2021 (NPP), used to integrate into DHB local 
plans. The endorsement by all 20 DHBs was a significant milestone for 
both NZHP and the DHBs.  

Our Work

•  Providing an end-to-end procurement service to drive value 
delivery through category management, sourcing, contract 
optimisation and contract management 

•  Partnering with national agencies such as NZGP and PHARMAC 
to build procurement capability and facilitate policy and 
advisory projects 

•  Provide ongoing support to accelerate transition of medical 
devices to PHARMAC and define a clear scope to be integrated 
through the NPP

•  Receipting and consolidating monthly DHB spend information 
into DataHub. 

National Procurement 
CE Sponsors: Kevin Snee | Hawke's Bay DHB and 
Peter Bramley | Nelson Marlborough DHB

KeyPOINTS
Annualised benefits targets were 
missed, partly due to a number 
of new tenders unable to be 
completed before the year-end

1 
Good progress on laying the 

foundation for a successful 

future national procurement-led  

business

2 
First multi-year National 

Procurement Plan for the Sector 

was agreed in May 2019 for  

2019-21, providing a pathway 

for NZHP to deliver increased 

procurement benefits in the 

future

3 Implemented two procurement 

optimisation projects to identify 

further opportunity[1], realising 

$1.2m of annualised benefits

4 
Developed an end-to-end 

procurement value model for 

agreed national categories, from 

data analytics through to supplier 

relationship management 

5 
Completed negotiations to reduce 

mobilisation costs for the Food 

Services Agreement by 50% 

with the potential for further 

reductions over the next 12 

months. The annualised  

non-budgetary cost avoidance 

benefit is valued at $0.95m

6 
Collaborated with PHARMAC on 

transitioning medical device 

ownership

7 
 Established the national clinical 

and commercial reference groups.

SERVICES

[1] Further opportunity is the potentially additional cost 
reduction when switching to a lower cost equivalent 
substituted product within a national awarded schedule.
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What our  
stakeholders say…

“NZHP put in a lot of hard work to move 
this project along and get it to this 

stage, and keep the momentum going. I 
appreciated the ongoing communication, 
keeping us informed at different stages in 

the project.”  
Poobie Pillay |Team Leader, Infection Prevention & Control | 

Waitemata DHB 

 “… they have a greater ability to influence 
PHARMAC than individual DHBs …” 

DHB CFO, 2018 Research First Survey (Stakeholder Perception's Survey)

“Endorsed. Good Job. Well done”  
DHB Procurement Lead, 2019 DHB Procurement Strategy review work

“It’s nice having a third party involved in 
the process and I find it really valuable. It 
is useful having NZHP there to lead the 

process but be ... impartial.” 
Food Services Agreement Governance Group Member, 2018 Research 

First Survey (Stakeholder Perception's Survey) 

MEASURE TARGET RESULT

Annualised budgetary benefits $5.2m $1.9m

Annualised non-budgetary benefits $4.1m $3.5m

Total Annualised Benefits $9.3m $5.4m

In-year budgetary benefits $2.8m $2.7m

In-year non-budgetary benefits $2.7m

Total In-year Benefits $2.8m $5.4m

Procurement benefit results 2018/19

Data analytics 
projects
A new set of impact reports 
and the identification of further 
opportunities for product 
substitution for each DHB was 
developed, in Q1. In Q2, the 
analytic project was completed. 
This project identified the best 
options available for DHBs, 
based on the outcomes from 
the PHARMAC national contract 
for the compression Venous 
Thromboembolism Prevention 
Stockings. This project was 
extended to the Hawke's 
Bay, Whanganui, MidCentral, 
Wairarapa, Hutt Valley and Capital 
and Coast DHBs. Our Analytics 
Team created an analytic tool for 
the Perfusion Category, which can 
be used to build a customised pack 
and immediately calculate the cost 
per pack. More analytic tools are 
being developed in preparation for 
other categories.

SNAPSHOT

Note: For more information see Benefits page 40.  
Note: Included in the annualised non-budgetary figure is a further 
opportunities benefits of $1.2m.



30            NZHP ANNUAL REPORT 2019  T R A N S PA R E N C Y   |   R E S P E C T  |   A C C O U N TA B I L I T Y   |   C O M M I T M E N T

Our results
Procurement performance measures, targets and results 2018/19

SERVICES

Achieved
Substantially 

achieved
Progressed Not started Not achieved

RESULT PERFORMANCE MEASURE TARGET DATE

5 Operating Model Enablers 
Formal engagement with DHBs and their agents in the end-to-
end procurement cycle for improved collaboration and operating 
processes.
5.1  Establish National Procurement Reference Groups, for each 
national sourcing event, to develop specifications and evaluate 
all national procurement sourcing activities, with appropriate 
representation from the Sector.

5.2  Provide quarterly customer engagement reports to the Joint 
Procurement Authority (JPA).

5.3  Undertake additional ad hoc procurement activities as agreed with 
DHBs throughout the year.

Quality 
Timeliness

30 June 
2019

COMMENTARY

Reference groups. Established National Procurement Reference Groups for each national sourcing event, 
with appropriate representation from within the Sector. Specifications and evaluations were developed for all 
national procurement sourcing activities. 

We will continue to work with DHBs to speed up the National Procurement Reference Group nominations 
process. 

Reporting. Provided quarterly engagement reports to the JPA.

Engagement. Using the category reference group model, more than 130 subject matter experts were nominated 
to participate in national sourcing events. We conducted a review during the third quarter, which confirmed that 
the skillsets nominated match our expertise requirements.  

We also engaged with stakeholders on the new National Procurement Plan including suppliers, the DHB clinical 
engineering group, Product Evaluation Health NZ and procurement leads. We worked with DHB procurement 
leads to liaise directly with PHARMAC around its managing fairer access to hospital medical devices 
consultation.
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6 Operating Model Enablers  
Data and technology enhanced to support the Procurement Operating 
Model.

6.1 100% of national contracts and pricing schedules are available 
in FPIM, with all national contracts and pricing schedules loaded into 
the FPIM for contract management use and an ongoing process to 
maintain 100% compliance developed, by September 2018.

6.2  Information reporting format developed and agreed with DHBs 
and quarterly reporting process commenced by September 2018.

6.3  Supplier data obtained and added to DataHub for all new sourcing 
events.

Quality 
Timeliness

30 June 
2019

COMMENTARY

Contracts. Placed all national contracts and pricing schedules in FPIM and developed an ongoing process to 
maintain 100% compliance.

Reporting. Developed information reporting format with DHBs and started a quarterly reporting process in 
December 2018.

Tenders. Developed new implementation packs for national tenders, which were tailored to individual DHBs. 
This simplified the implementation process by providing the right level of information for DHBs, including direct 
impact outcomes and further opportunities when switching to an alternative.  

Business intelligence. Completed the DataHub re-platform project and seamlessly transferred the core dataset.  

Improved functional capacity and capability of DataHub laying the foundations for the next phase when we 
introduce cloud analytics, category and contract management teams to enable self-reporting.  

7 Governance and Management Alignment  
Support national procurement governance to align with the DHB 
Procurement Strategy, the Procurement Operating Model and the 
Health Sector Procurement Policy.

7.1  Health Sector Procurement Policy adopted and Sector adoption 
reported by March 2019.

7.2  Arrange a minimum of two national procurement planning 
sessions with the Procurement Operating Advisory Group (POAG) and 
procurement leads in the year.

Quality 
Timeliness

30 June 
2019

COMMENTARY

Policy. All 20 DHBs approved the DHB National Procurement Policy by September 2018 and this was published 
in October 2018.

Reporting. A reporting format and framework for sector compliance reporting was agreed, including an 
exemption process, but reporting did not commence in the year as planned.

Planning. Two Procurement Lead Workshops were arranged, creating opportunities for DHB procurement 
leads to identify both strategic and practical opportunities for improvement. Direction was received from NZ 
Government Procurement and PHARMAC on procurement plans and priorities, as well as from the Department 
of Internal Affairs on its Digital eProcurement Strategy.

These workshops led to the creation of the National Procurement Plan 2019-21, approved by all 20 DHB CEs in 
April 2019. The plan focuses on contract optimisation and procurement capability enablers as well as benefits 
and changes from an annual planning cycle to a multi-year rolling procurement plan. It targets a total benefit of 
up to $25m over two years, while assessing a supplier spend estimated at $758m per annum, with an indicative 
average return on investment of 5.8:1.
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8 National Procurement Delivery 
Delivery of value-add national procurement services to DHBs, including 
total benefits as per the approved Annual Procurement Plan.

8.1  Deliver service within agreed budget for the 2018/19 financial 
year and achieve $5.2m in annualised budgetary benefits and 
$4.14m in annualised non-budgetary benefits, as per the National 
Annual Procurement Plan (APP), with a minimum of $2.8m of in-year 
budgetary benefits delivered by 30 June, subject to DHBs’ approval to 
any APP amendment(s).

8.2  Based on the APP, provide quarterly benefits reports to DHBs, 
including budgetary and non-budgetary benefits.

8.3  In addition to sourcing events, undertake targeted activities to 
deliver in-year benefits, so that total in-year benefits for each DHB 
at least equals their 2018/19 financial year cost of the National 
Procurement Service.

Quality 
Timeliness

30 June 
2019

COMMENTARY
Benefits delivered. Total annualised benefits of $5.4m, against a total target of $9.3m. 

The $3.9m shortfall against the SPE annualised target is due to slippage in the timing of new tenders, which 
carry over into 2019/20 and issues in resolving expired contracts. This was partially countered by annualised 
non-budgetary benefits from specific work done on further opportunity assessments to highlight where 
DHBs can elect to substitute a product or change to lower cost suppliers under new national contracts with 
PHARMAC.

$1.9m annualised of budgetary benefits, against a target $5.2m.

$3.5m annualised non-budgetary benefits, against a target of $4.1m.

Budgetary in-year benefits of $2.7m, against a target of $2.8m.

Non-budgetary in-year benefits of $2.7m (carried forward from previous years).

Reporting. Provided all quarterly procurement and benefits reports to the Finance Risk and Audit Committee, 
Board, DHB Chairs and Chief Executives.

Events. While eight national sourcing events were due to be executed in quarters three and four; monitoring, 
endoscopy and ICD pacemakers were re-scheduled into the next financial year. New sourcing processes for 
Indirect Products and Services are underway.

Our results - continued

SERVICES
N

ot
 A

ch
ie

ve
d



NZHP ANNUAL REPORT 2019            33 T R A N S PA R E N C Y   |   R E S P E C T  |   A C C O U N TA B I L I T Y   |   C O M M I T M E N T

Our Work

•  Managing the contract between the Sector’s banker (BNZ) 
and DHBs, including DHB subsidiaries

•  Managing Sector-wide daily Cash Offset Arrangement 

•  Managing Sector monthly low points before fourth of month 
receipting 

•  Updating consolidated short-term and long-term cash 
forecasts 

•  Enhancing deposit returns in line with Treasury policy

KeyPOINTS
Exceeded deposit margin targets, 
but fell short of benefits target due 
to a year-end change in benefits 
methodology

1 Added value to the Sector by 

highlighting and resolving in the 

short-term liquidity challenges in 

management of the Sector's Cash 

Offset Arrangement

2 
 Completion of the final four DHBs' 

transition to BNZ on time, by 

December 2018

3 
 Negotiated lower bank fees 

and a higher interest margin by 

transferring to BNZ

4 
 Introduced greater visibility for 

DHBs by providing direct view 

access; DHBs can now confirm 

bank balances in the treasury 

account in real time, rather than 

sending daily email notifications

What our  
stakeholders say …

“The NZHP staff I have contact with are 
professional and obliging.” 

Rated 8 out of 10 for customer satisfaction. 
NZHP Shared Banking Customer Satisfaction Survey (2018/19)

Our Shared Banking team negotiates the best banking 
deal available for all DHBs collectively and proactively 
identifies opportunities to enhance and streamline 
banking services. 

This year, Shared Banking worked hard with DHBs, the 
Ministry of Health (MoH) and Treasury New Zealand 
to manage liquidity within the Sector's Cash Offset 
Arrangement. It also enabled each DHB to view cash 
offset balances online – reducing administration time and 
simplifying audit confirmation. 

Shared Banking 
CE Sponsor: Nigel Trainor | South Canterbury DHB 
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SERVICES

Achieved
Substantially 

achieved
Progressed Not started Not achieved

Our results
Shared Banking performance measures, targets and results 2018/19

RESULT PERFORMANCE MEASURE TARGET DATE

9 Shared Banking Delivery  
An efficient, value-add Shared Banking service to DHBs, delivering 
benefits as agreed by the Banking and Insurance Service Performance 
Group.

9.1  Deliver service within agreed budget for the 2018/19 financial 
year and deliver $5.4m benefits and 0.10% margin over the Official 
Cash Rate effective interest rate, over the Shared Banking portfolio for 
2018/19.

9.2  Undertake process improvement activities to reduce total Sector 
hours of effort on Shared Banking Service, through NZHP initiated 
activities, including offset account arrangement, as measured through 
the Shared Banking customer questionnaire.

9.3  Add value through completion of activities agreed with the 
Banking and Insurance Service Performance Group, including 
completing BNZ transition, by agreed timescales.

Financial 30 June 
2019

COMMENTARY

Interest margins. The service achieved an average effective interest rate of 1.98% or 0.26% over the 1.72% 
blended OCR (0.10% target margin).  

Benefits. Closed with a $4.0m banking service benefit for the Sector, which was lower than the SPE target 
of $5.4m. This was due to a reduction in the line fee percentage applied to overdrafts while calculating the 
benefit, following a year-end review of changes made to the benefits model at the beginning of the financial 
year. Our transaction banking provider BNZ affirmed the reasonableness of the lower line fee.

NOTE: The SPE target would have been $3.5m applying the lower line fee benefits assumption.

Transfer success. Completed the move of the final four DHBs (Bay of Plenty, Canterbury, Waikato and 
West Coast) to the Health Sector's new transactional banking provider BNZ by 7 December, ahead of the 31 
December 2018 target. 

Process improvements. Process improvement activities to reduce the total Health Sector hours of effort on 
the Shared Banking service were undertaken, including Offset Account, as measured in the Shared Banking 
Customer Questionnaire. 
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10 Risk Management and Governance  
Deliver a quality Shared Banking service, effectively managing risk 
and ensure appropriate reporting and governance is provided.

10.1  Contract management meetings with BNZ held regularly, with a 
minimum of five times a year.

10.2  Appropriate and timely reviews, including a Shared Banking 
internal audit and policy review undertaken in the 2018/19 year.

10.3  Implement a Shared Banking Service risk register by end of 
quarter one and ensure that actions are implemented as agreed by 
the Finance, Risk and Audit Committee and escalated to the Corporate 
Risk Register, as appropriate.

Quality  
Timeliness

30 June 
2019

COMMENTARY

Managing risk. Regular contract management meetings were held with BNZ. Established a risk register, 
which we regularly updated. We provided our service performance dashboards regularly to the Banking and 
Insurance Service Performance Group.

Customer satisfaction. Received overall customer satisfaction score of 8 out of 10, from our customer 
satisfaction survey. DHBs provided useful feedback about the service.
 
Systematic approach. Our work this year highlighted to DHB Chief Financial Officers systemic issues, which 
needed to be addressed between MoH, Treasury New Zealand and the DHBs, regarding ongoing operation of 
the Sector’s Cash Offset Arrangement. 

Governance. Completed Banking and Insurance Service Performance Group activities, including completing 
the BNZ transition by agreed timescales. Completed Shared Banking internal audit and Shared Banking 
Treasury Policy review. Received a clean audit report from Ernst Young, showing good compliance with 
controls, policies and procedures. 
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Our Collective Insurance team negotiates the best 
insurance for DHBs through our insurance broker.

Offering insurers collective insurance for all 20 DHBs 
allows them to achieve a good spread of risk across the 
whole of New Zealand. 

This means DHBs can benefit from substantial cover 
while paying a comparatively lower premium, which 
is significantly more effective than individual DHBs 
insuring themselves. Feedback from annual renewal 
presentations in Auckland and London shows that 
insurers have appreciated the systematic improvement 
in property risk management practice across the Sector 
over the years. They also like the fact that this is a 
resilient, well-managed property portfolio.

What our  
stakeholders say…

“The transparency of arrangements and 
turnaround times from Marsh are appreciated.” 

 
Rated 7 out of 10 for customer satisfaction. 

NZHP Collective Insurance Customer Satisfaction Survey (2018/19)

Our Work

•  Managing the contract between Marsh and the DHBs, 
including the DHBs' subsidiaries

•  Managing annual renewal process and terms with 
underwriters in New Zealand and the United Kingdom

•  Running periodic tender process for broker services

•  Exploring alternative risk transfer mechanisms to provide 
resilience against fluctuations in annual premiums and 
insurance terms

Collective Insurance 
CE Sponsor: Nigel Trainor | South Canterbury DHB

KeyPOINTS

1 Exceeded benefits target by 

$2.4m as Sector premiums 

increased on the back of rising 

property values and a higher 

premium rate in a tougher global 

insurance market

2  Added new cyber and 

environmental options

3  Presented DHB asset portfolio 

to the London insurance market 

and local insurance companies 

in April 2019 for the 2019 / 20 

insurance placement, together 

with Canterbury DHB CFO and 

Marsh

SERVICES
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Our results
Collective Insurance performance measures, targets and results 2018/19

Achieved
Substantially 

achieved
Progressed Not started Not achieved

RESULT PERFORMANCE MEASURE TARGET DATE

11 Collective Insurance Delivery  
An efficient, value-add and fit-for-purpose Collective Insurance 
service. Ensuring DHBs are engaged and informed and the service 
delivers the value (financial and non-financial) agreed by the Banking 
and Insurance Service Performance Group.

11.1  Deliver within agreed budget for the 2018/19 financial year and 
provide $2.5m of benefits from the 2018/19 placement.

11.2  Ensure DHBs are engaged in their insurance coverage for 
the 2018/19 and 2019/20 placements, including having an annual 
Collective Insurance Forum.

11.3  Develop a long term Insurance Strategy by June 2019, in 
consultation with, and as agreed by DHBs.

Financial 30 June 
2019

COMMENTARY

Benefits. The Sector’s insurance broker, Marsh, assessed the 2018/19 savings and confirmed that the service 
achieved $4.9m of benefits for DHBs overall – $2.4m in excess of the $2.5m annual target. We confirmed to all 
DHBs in June 2019 that their 2019/20 insurance placements were completed. 

12 Risk Management and Governance   
Deliver a quality Collective Insurance service, effectively managing 
the relationship with the insurance broker and DHBs, ensuring 
appropriate reporting and governance is provided.

12.1  DHB engagement through delivery of the activities agreed with 
the Banking and Insurance Service Performance Group. This is to 
include collaboration on the development of the DHBs' long-term risk 
management strategy.

12.2  Implement a Collective Insurance Service risk register by end 
of Q1, and ensure that actions are implemented, as agreed by the 
Finance, Risk and Audit Committee and escalated to the Corporate 
Risk Register, as appropriate.

12.3  Contract management meetings with Marsh held regularly 
including a minimum of eight times a year. The Insurance Broker to 
be held to account for delivery of 2018/19 milestones identified in the 
Marsh Route to 2021 and engagement letter document.

Quality 
Timeliness

30 June 
2019

COMMENTARY

Risk management. Held monthly contract management meetings with Marsh and facilitated appropriate 
broker service responses to DHBs that had risk events.

Developed an insurance risk register, which is important given the current challenging insurance climate. 
However, this was delivered in Q3 rather than at the end of Q1, as per the target.

Customer engagement. Held the Annual Collective Insurance Forum where DHBs could interact directly with 
the broker and their colleagues.

Long-term strategy. Developed a long-term Collective Insurance Strategy and consulted on this by June 2019.
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Achieved
Substantially 

achieved
Progressed Not started Not achieved

RESULT PERFORMANCE MEASURE TARGET DATE

 13 Strategic Plan 
NZ Health Partnerships’ Strategy and Roadmap to 2022 developed and 
approved.

Quality 
Timeliness

30 June 
2019

COMMENTARY

Project FOCUS. In November 2018, the NZHP Board approved Project FOCUS to carry out a comprehensive 
review of the company’s current operating model, with a view to develop a target operating model that would 
more effectively fulfil the company’s purpose as outlined in our Shareholders Agreement with each DHB to 
realise the national ‘collective good’. 
 
In February 2019, our shareholders put Project FOCUS on ‘pause’ in favour of the establishment of the 
Shareholders Review Group (SRG).

Shareholders Review Group. From February to June, NZHP provided full information and support to the SRG for 
its work and report to our shareholders. The Executive Leadership Team, as well as the Strategy and Engagement 
teams, gave full support to the SRG including the comprehensive NZ Health Partnerships Overview presentation, 
which covered the company’s spectrum from the HBL legacy to current functional outputs from our National 
Procurement, Data, Shared Banking, Collective Insurance and FPIM Programme and Service deliverables.

Although we did not complete the Strategy Roadmap to 2022, the SRG work outlined its view of the strategic 
direction for the company, significantly moving the business forward in terms of the potential landscape.

 14 Communications and Engagement Strategy  
Communications and engagement enhanced to support effective 
delivery of Programmes and Services.

Quality 
Timeliness

31 
December 

2018

COMMENTARY

Planning. Early in the year we developed a Stakeholder and Communications Plan for Project FOCUS, which 
we implemented for the first few months of the year. When Project FOCUS was put on hold and we shifted 
direction to the SRG, we undertook targeted internal and external communications to ensure our changed 
direction was articulated to all stakeholders.  

Communications skills training. During the year, we offered communications skills training across the 
company and three quarters of our people took up this opportunity. We are continuing to encourage people to 
do this training.

Performance updates. In line with our six-weekly Board meeting cycle, we provided progress and performance 
updates across our portfolios and key governance groups.

Governance and advisory group review. Due to our SRG support work, we didn’t achieve the proposed  
high-level review of portfolio-level governance and advisory group participation because communications  
and engagement capacity was dedicated to the internal SRG Working Group.

Organisational capability performance measures, targets and results 2018/19

Our results

ORGANISATIONAL CAPABILITY
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Achieved
Substantially 

achieved
Progressed Not started Not achieved

RESULT PERFORMANCE MEASURE TARGET DATE

 13 Strategic Plan 
NZ Health Partnerships’ Strategy and Roadmap to 2022 developed and 
approved.

Quality 
Timeliness

30 June 
2019

COMMENTARY

Project FOCUS. In November 2018, the NZHP Board approved Project FOCUS to carry out a comprehensive 
review of the company’s current operating model, with a view to develop a target operating model that would 
more effectively fulfil the company’s purpose as outlined in our Shareholders Agreement with each DHB to 
realise the national ‘collective good’. 
 
In February 2019, our shareholders put Project FOCUS on ‘pause’ in favour of the establishment of the 
Shareholders Review Group (SRG).

Shareholders Review Group. From February to June, NZHP provided full information and support to the SRG for 
its work and report to our shareholders. The Executive Leadership Team, as well as the Strategy and Engagement 
teams, gave full support to the SRG including the comprehensive NZ Health Partnerships Overview presentation, 
which covered the company’s spectrum from the HBL legacy to current functional outputs from our National 
Procurement, Data, Shared Banking, Collective Insurance and FPIM Programme and Service deliverables.

Although we did not complete the Strategy Roadmap to 2022, the SRG work outlined its view of the strategic 
direction for the company, significantly moving the business forward in terms of the potential landscape.

 14 Communications and Engagement Strategy  
Communications and engagement enhanced to support effective 
delivery of Programmes and Services.

Quality 
Timeliness

31 
December 

2018

COMMENTARY

Planning. Early in the year we developed a Stakeholder and Communications Plan for Project FOCUS, which 
we implemented for the first few months of the year. When Project FOCUS was put on hold and we shifted 
direction to the SRG, we undertook targeted internal and external communications to ensure our changed 
direction was articulated to all stakeholders.  

Communications skills training. During the year, we offered communications skills training across the 
company and three quarters of our people took up this opportunity. We are continuing to encourage people to 
do this training.

Performance updates. In line with our six-weekly Board meeting cycle, we provided progress and performance 
updates across our portfolios and key governance groups.

Governance and advisory group review. Due to our SRG support work, we didn’t achieve the proposed  
high-level review of portfolio-level governance and advisory group participation because communications  
and engagement capacity was dedicated to the internal SRG Working Group.

  Actual Budget Actual

2018/19 2018/19 2017/18

$000s $000s $000s

Revenue:      

Shared Banking and Collective Insurance  

Interest from Shared Banking Facility 16,181 12,521 19,420

Shared Banking and Collective Insurance 
Operations

457 456 603

National Procurement 3,462 3,188 3,426

Management Services 5,135 5,633 5,090

NZ Health Partnerships Interest 130 15 29

Total programme revenue 25,365 21,813 28,568

 

Expenditure:  

Shared Banking and Collective Insurance  

Interest Distribution from Shared Banking Facility 16,052 12,521 19,337

Shared Banking and Collective Insurance 
Operations

315 456 673

National Procurement 3,201 3,149 3,202

Management Services 4,799 5,687 4,505

Total expenditure 24,367 21,813 27,717

Surplus / (Deficit) 998 0 851

Higher interest revenue – Interest revenue from Shared Banking was $3.7m higher than 
budget because of the timing of higher than forecast cash balance held in the Sector offset. 
This resulted in a $3.5m higher Interest expenditure from Shared Banking with the interest 
received being distributed to DHBs. 

Additional administrative margin – NZHP realised an additional $129k of administrative 
margin, due to higher than planned funding of overdrafts being extended to DHBs during the 
year.

Favourable Shared Banking and Collective Insurance budget – Expenditure for Shared Banking 
and Collective Insurance was $142k favourable to budget with resources being redirected to 
supporting the development of the FPIM Business Case, together with a reduction in planned 
consultant expenditure.

PHARMAC revenue – National Procurement provided a favorable $261k contribution to 
budget resulting from $275k unbudgeted revenue recognition from PHARMAC.

Shareholders Review Group – Management services were $336k favourable to budget, even 
after allowing for the unbudgeted expenditure of $468k for the group, predominantly a result 
of the recovery of resources cost required to support the FPIM Programme.

Annual Report 2018 comparatives amended – The 2017/18 comparatives have been amended 
from those shown in the Annual Report 2018. The National Procurement service expenditure 
stated as $5.185m in the Annual Report 2018 has been decreased by $1.983m, which should 
have been included as a FPIM Programme expense. A corresponding $1.983m increase has 
been made to the FPIM Programme expense comparative.

SERVICES:  
Financial Perspective
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Reported benefits methodology

Reported benefits are predicted and realised amounts. These benefits 
are based on an actual per-unit saving multiplied by forecast volumes, 
therefore actual benefits achieved may vary. 

Benefits are classified as either budgetary or  
non-budgetary. A budgetary benefit has a financial impact on a DHB's 
Statement of Income and Expenses. Non-budgetary benefits are 
all those that do not meet the budgetary definition; including cost 
avoidance, cumulative, benefits from contracts started in previous 
financial years, qualitative benefits, further opportunities and risk 
mitigation of expiring contracts.

We also report benefits as either annualised or in-year.

Annualised benefits are from activities undertaken in the current 
financial year, which present immediate benefits for 12 months from 
procurement activities such as signing new contracts and contract 
extension. 

In-year benefits are 12-months of benefits within a reporting year, so 
for this report it means the financial year July 2018 to June 2019. We 
report in-year benefits separately from annualised benefits to avoid 
duplicating benefit recognition. Some activities that provided a multi-
year benefit, which were finalised in previous years, are also included in 
the in-year figure as a non-budgetary amount. For example: A three-
year contract negotiated with a supplier in 2016/17 that provided 
benefits over three years. In the current year, 12-months of benefit from 
that contract will be included in our report as an in-year non-budgetary 
benefit. 

We reported total annualised benefits for the year of $16.6m against 
an SPE target of $17.2m.

BENEFITS

We report on benefits generated by our Shared Banking, Collective Insurance, 
and National Procurement services. This year, we reported Microsoft H2018 
benefits due to new negotiations with Microsoft to refine ongoing licensing 
arrangements for the DHBs, following an All-of-Government (AoG) negotiation. 
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NZ Health Partnerships 
Annualised Benefits   Budgetary

$000s

Non-

Budgetary

$000s

2018/19 
Reported 
Benefits

$000s

2018/19 
SPE Target

$000s

2017/18 
Reported 
Benefits

$000s

Programmes                  -                   -                    -                    -                      -   
 

Services  
National Procurement 1,893 3,537 5,430 9,340 6,772
Shared Banking - 4,005 4,005 5,400 4,024
Collective Insurance - 4,940 4,940 2,500 3,629

Microsoft H2018 - 2,200 2,200 - -

Total NZHP Annualised Benefits 1,893 14,682 16,575 17,240 14,425

 
Benefits (provided by other agencies)  

NZGP – AoG, BP Fuel 16,446 16,446 11,841

National Procurement  – Other agencies - -  - 15,988

Other Procurement 1 – DHBs    -  -  - 13,328

16,446 16,446 - 41,157
 

 Total 1,893 31,128 33,021 17,240 55,582

1 It was agreed that we would not report benefits this year from other agencies or DHBs. NZHP will not be reporting benefits (provided by other agencies) 
in the Annual Report 2020. The 2017/18 figures provided above are only for comparison with the Annual Report 2018.

National Procurement benefits 

We reported National Procurement benefits for the year of $5.4m, which is well below the SPE 
target of $9.3m.The $3.9m shortfall against the SPE annualised target is due to slippage in the 
timing of new tenders, which carry over into 2019/20 and issues in resolving expired contracts. 
This was partially countered by annualised non-budgetary benefits from specific work done on 
further opportunity assessments to highlight where DHBs can elect to substitute a product or 
change to lower cost suppliers under national contracts with PHARMAC.

Shared Banking benefits

We reported Shared Banking benefits for the year of $4m, which is below the SPE target of 
$5.4m. The $1.4m shortfall against the SPE target is due to:

•  Downward benefit revision: In June-July 2019, we reduced the previously reported 
benefits from $6.8m to $4m. The change of $2.8m is from an assumption of a reduced 
line fee, following an internal review of benefits modelling changes made in July 2018.

Collective Insurance benefits

We reported Collective Insurance benefits for the year of $4.9m, which is above the SPE target 
of $2.5m. The $2.4m over-achievement against the SPE benefits target is due to:

•  Increases in property declared values by 12% on the previous year 

•  Rise in property insurance premiums rates by 12% in a hardening global insurance 
market.
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Shareholders’ split of annualised benefits

DHB
              

Budgetary                                  
$000s

Non       
Budgetary 

$000s

2018/19 
NZHP 

Attributable 
Benefits 

$000s

2017/18 

NZHP 
Attributable 

Benefits 
$000s

2017/18  
Other Agency1 

Procurement 
Reported 
Benefits 

$000s

2017/18 
Reported 
Benefits            

$000s
Auckland 411 165 576 1,200 6,085 7,285
Bay of Plenty 104 595 699 617 837 1,454
Canterbury 147 2,768 2,915 3,158 4,926 8,084
Capital & Coast 88 892 981 2,425 2,200 4,625
Counties Manukau 287 1,391 1,677 1,185 4,053 5,238
Hawke’s Bay 31 417 447 214 563 777
Hutt Valley 45 544 589 378 892 1,270
Lakes 19 346 365 294 1,343 1,636
MidCentral 15 534 549 59 954 1,013
Nelson Marlborough 19 336 354 469 572 1,041
Northland 45 565 610 178 1,593 1,772
South Canterbury 12 127 139 -2 438 435
Southern 148 1,112 1,260 1,290 3,669 4,960
Hauora Tairāwhiti 34 197 231 101 241 342
Taranaki 29 428 458 148 750 898
Waikato 194 1,764 1,959 1,874 8,751 10,625
Wairarapa 13 148 161 152 162 315
Waitemata 245 830 1,075 566 2,523 3,088
West Coast 126 126 83 357 440
Whanganui 5 218 222 37 249 285
NZ Health Partnerships 53 53
healthAlliance NZ 1,023 1,023
HealthShare 6 6
healthAlliance (FPSC) 8 8
Other 90 90
Total 1,893 14,682 16,575 14,425 41,157 55,582

1 It was agreed with shareholders that NZHP would not report benefits this year from other agencies or DHBs. The 2017/18 columns are provided only for 
comparison with the 2018 Annual Report.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019
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Statement of responsibility
The Board is responsible for the presentation of NZ Health Partnerships 
Financial Statements, Statement of Performance and for the judgements 
made in them.

The Board is also responsible for establishing and maintaining a system of 
internal controls to provide reasonable assurance about the integrity and 
reliability of financial reporting and non-financial service performance.

In the Board’s opinion, these Financial Statements and Statement of 
Performance fairly reflect the financial position and operations of NZ 
Health Partnerships for the year ended 30 June 2019.

Signed for and on behalf of the Board.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE 

Terry Laughlin,  
NZ Health Partnerships Chair 

Pauline Lockett,  
Finance Risk and Audit Committee Chair
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE REVENUE AND EXPENDITURE  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

    Actual Budget Actual
2018/19 2018/19 2017/18

    Notes   $000s $000s $000s

 

Income:  

 

Revenue from Crown 16,083 17,812 14,914

Interest income NZ Health Partnerships 130 15 29

Shared Banking 16,181 12,521 19,420
Other income       1,951 501 2,740
Total Income   2   34,345 30,849 37,103

 

Expenditure:  

 

Personnel costs 3 5,553 5,121 4,622

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment expense 4 39,627 100 7,632

Interest on Shared Banking Facility NZ Health Partnerships 0 501 0

Shared Banking 16,052 12,521 19,337

Interest on Finance Lease 632 0 526

Other expenses   6   10,510 12,606 9,723

Total Expenditure       72,374 30,849 41,840

Surplus/(Deficit) (38,029) 0 (4,737)

 

Other Comprehensive Income: 0 0 0

             

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME       (38,029) 0 (4,737)

The accompanying financial notes form part of these Financial Statements. Explanations of major variances against 
budget are provided in note 19.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AS AT 30 JUNE 2019

        Actual Budget Actual
2018/19 2018/19 2017/18

    Notes   $000s $000s $000s
 

ASSETS  

Current Assets:  

Cash and Cash Equivalents 7 149,704 74,060 156,932

Receivables 8 2,233 4,928 6,570

Investments -Shared Banking 9 0 0 75,000

Prepayments 1,643 550 1,627

DHB Shared Banking Facility 12a 100,932 219,513 63,991

Total Current Assets       254,512 299,051 304,120
 

Non-Current Assets:  

Receivables 8 2,385 3,647 2,564

Prepayments 101 0 273

Property, Plant, and Equipment 10 2,292 38 2,262

Intangible Assets   11   27,895 86,917 63,648

Total Non-Current Assets       32,673 90,602 68,747

Total Assets       287,185 389,653 372,867
 

LIABILITIES  

Current Liabilities:  

Payables 12 10,262 12,041 16,892

DHB Shared Banking Facility 12b 241,564 289,233 290,256

Finance Lease Liability 5 935 0 627

Employee Entitlements 13 350 200 297

Income in Advance       471 256 495

Total Current Liabilities 253,582 301,730 308,567

 

Non-current liabilities:  

Payables 12 2,567 2,436 4,688

Finance Lease Liability 5 1,836 0 2,200

Income in Advance       286 177 469

Total Non-Current Liabilities 4,689 2,613 7,357

Total Liabilities       258,271 304,343 315,924

Net Assets       28,914 85,310 56,943
 

EQUITY  

Contributed Capital 14 74,916 87,751 64,916

Accumulated Surplus / (Deficit) 14 (46,002) (2,441) (7,973)

Total Equity       28,914 85,310 56,943

The accompanying financial notes form part of these Financial Statements. Explanations of major variances 
against budget are provided in note 19.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY  
AS AT 30 JUNE 2019

      Actual Budget Actual

2018/19 2018/19 2017/18

  Notes   $000s $000s $000s

 

Balance at 1 July 56,943 81,010 61,680

Comprehensive Revenue and Expense for the Year (38,029) 0 (4,737)

Contributed Capital     10,000 4,300 0

Balance at 30 June 14   28,914 85,310 56,943

The accompanying financial notes form part of these Financial Statements. Explanations of major variances 
against budget are provided in note 19.
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
AS AT 30 JUNE 2019

        Actual Budget Actual

2018/19 2018/19 2017/18
    Notes   $000s $000s $000s

 

Cash flows from Operating Activities:  

Receipts from DHBs 18,941 17,592 19,060

Receipts from Other Revenue 1,479 200 2,067

Interest Received 18,236 12,521 21,003

Payments to Suppliers (15,997) (16,262) (7,810)

Payments to Employees (5,549) (5,310) (4,542)

Interest Paid (19,818) (12,341) (19,772)

Net DHBs Shared Banking Movements (85,116) (97,062) 12,640

Goods and Services Tax (net) *       71 (106) (148)

Net Cash Flow from Operating Activities (87,753) (100,768) 22,498

 
Cash flows from Investing Activities:  

Funds from Deposit 964,000 865,000 594,000

Purchase of Property, Plant, and Equipment (948) (10) (198)

Purchase of Intangible Assets (2,956) (16,816) (6,594)

Funds to Deposit       (889,000) (790,000) (539,000)

Net Cash Flow from Investing Activities

 

    71,096 58,174 48,208

Cash flows from Financing Activities:  

Contributed Equity 10,000 4,300 0

Payments of finance leases (571) 0 (532)

Proceeds from borrowings 0 0 0

Net Cash Flow from Financing Activities     9,429 4,300 (532)

 

Net (Decrease)/Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents     (7,228) (38,294) 70,174

Cash and Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Year 156,932 112,354 86,758

Cash and Cash Equivalents at the End of the Year 7   149,704 74,060 156,932

The accompanying financial notes form part of these Financial Statements. Explanations of major variances against 
budget are provided in note 19.
*  The GST (net) component of operating activities reflects the net GST paid to and received from the Inland Revenue Department. The GST (net) 
component has been presented on a net basis, as the gross amounts do not provide meaningful information for financial statement purposes and to be 
consistent with the presentation basis of the other primary Financial Statements.
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RECONCILIATION OF NET SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) TO NET  
CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
AS AT 30 JUNE 2019

      Actual Actual

2018/19 2017/18

      $000s $000s

Net surplus/ (deficit) (38,029) (4,737)

Add/ (less) non-cash items  

Fair Value Adjustment from Service Provider Fees (154) (432)

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment expense   39,627 7,632

Total non-cash items 39,473 7,200

 

Add/ (less) movements in statement of financial position items  

(Inc)/Dec in Debtors and other receivables 4,670 5,176

(Inc)/Dec in Prepayments 156 (746)

Inc/(Dec) in Income in Advance (207) 19

Inc/(Dec) in Creditors and other payables (8,753) 2,825

Inc/(Dec) in Employee entitlements 53 121

Inc/(Dec) in Westpac Sweep Account Movements with DHB's (85,116) 12,640

Net movements in working capital items   (89,197) 20,035

Net Cash Flow from Operating Activities   (87,753) 22,498

The accompanying financial notes form part of these Financial Statements. Explanations of 
major variances against budget are provided in note 19.
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1. STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Reporting Entity

NZ Health Partnerships Limited (NZHP) is a Crown entity as defined by the Crown Entities Act 
2004 (CEA) and is domiciled and operates in New Zealand. The CEA is the primary legislation 
governing NZHP operations. NZHP is a multi-parent Crown subsidiary, owned by the 20 DHBs, 
which all have equal Class A shareholding and voting rights.

NZHP does not operate to make a financial return with a primary objective to operate as a 
co-operative undertaking. It operates to enable DHBs to collectively maximise shared services 
opportunities for the national good. 

NZHP has designated itself as a Public Benefit Entity (PBE) for financial reporting purposes.

While completing last year’s Financial Statements, NZHP identified a document relating to the 
National Technology Solution (NTS), which required a restatement of the arrangement from an 
operating lease to a finance lease. 

Entering into a finance lease requires the authority of the Minister of Health and the Minister 
of Finance under Schedule 3, clause 45 of the New Zealand Public Health and Disability Act 
2000 and sections 160 and 162 of the CEA. This was not obtained at the time due to the 
misinterpretation of the arrangement. NZHP applied for and subsequently received joint 
Ministerial approval for up to $3.6m, from 8 November 2018.

The Financial Statements for NZHP are for the year ended 30 June 2019 and were endorsed by 
the Finance Risk and Audit Committee on 16 October 2019, and approved by the NZHP Board on 
31 October 2019.

Basis of Preparation

These Financial Statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, and the accounting 
policies have been applied consistently throughout the year, refer to note 18 (Events After 
Balance Date). NZHP operates on a cost recovery basis with support from all 20 DHB 
shareholders, who underwrite all of our operational and capital expenditure.

Statement of Compliance

These Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the 
CEA, which includes the requirement to comply with Generally Accepted Accounting Practice in 
New Zealand (NZ GAAP).

The Financial Statements have been prepared to comply with Public Benefit Entity Standards 
(PBE) Standards for a Tier 1 entity. These Financial Statements comply with PBE Standards.

Presentation Currency and Rounding

The Financial Statements are presented in New Zealand dollars and all values are rounded to 
the nearest thousand dollars ($000). 
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Standards Issued That Are Not Yet Effective and Have Not 
Been Early Adopted 

Standards and amendments, issued but not yet effective, that have not been early adopted are:

• Amendment to PBE IPSAS 2 Statement of Cash Flows – An amendment to PBE 
IPSAS 2 Statement of Cash Flows requires entities to provide disclosures that 
enable users of Financial Statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising 
from financing activities, including both changes arising from cash flows and 
non-cash changes. This amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on 
or after 1 January 2021, with early application permitted. NZ Health Partnerships 
(NZHP) does not intend to early adopt the amendment.

• PBE IPSAS 34-38 – PBE IPSAS 34-38 replace the existing standards for interests 
in other entities (PBE IPSAS 6-8). These new standards are effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. NZHP will apply these new 
standards in preparing the 30 June 2020 Financial Statements. No effect is 
expected as a result of this change.

• PBE IPSAS 41 Financial Instruments – March 2019, the XRB issued PBE IPSAS 
41 Financial Instruments. This standard supersedes PBE IFRS 9 Financial 
Instruments, which was issued as an interim standard. It is effective for reporting 
periods beginning on, or after, 1 January 2022. Although NZHP has not assessed 
the effect of the new standard, it does not expect any significant changes as the 
requirements are similar to PBE IFRS 9.

• PBE FRS 48 Service Performance Reporting – PBE FRS 48 replaces the service 
performance reporting requirements of PBE IPSAS 1 and is effective for reporting 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021. NZHP has not yet determined how 
application of PBE FRS 48 will affect its statement of performance. 

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Significant accounting policies are included in the notes to which they relate. Significant 
Accounting Policies that do not relate to a specific note are outlined below.

 
Significant Accounting Policies

Revenue 
Interest revenue

Interest revenue is recognised using the effective interest method. Interest revenue on an 
impaired financial asset is recognised using the original effective interest rate.

Expenditure 
Finance costs

Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the financial year in which they are incurred.



NZHP ANNUAL REPORT 2019            53 T R A N S PA R E N C Y   |   R E S P E C T  |   A C C O U N TA B I L I T Y   |   C O M M I T M E N T

Shared Banking Operations

NZHP operates as the provider of the Shared Banking Service for the Sector, where funds earn 
interest based on being held on call, or placed on term deposit.

The Statement of Comprehensive Income discloses the gross amount of interest earned 
on all funds managed within the Shared Banking Service, and the gross amount of interest 
expenditure paid from that interest earned to the participants of the Shared Banking Service.

Funds transacted through Shared Banking are disclosed in the Statement of Financial Position 
as the gross amount owing to or from the respective participants in the Shared Banking Service 
as at the 30 June together with the gross amount of term deposits placed on behalf of the 
sector, refer to note 12 (Payables) and refer to note 9 (Investments). The amounts shown in 
the Statement of Cash Flows are the gross amounts of interest received and paid in relation to 
operating the Shared Banking service, together with the gross amount of term deposits made 
and matured during the year ended 30 June 2019.

Goods and Services Tax

All items in the Financial Statements are presented exclusive of GST (Goods and Services Tax) 
except for receivables and payables, which are presented on a GST-inclusive basis. Where GST 
is not recoverable as input tax then it is recognised as part of the related asset or expense.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the Inland Revenue (IRD) is included as 
part of receivables or payables in the statement of financial position.

The net GST paid to, or received from the IRD, including the GST relating to investing and 
financing activities, is classified as a net operating cash flow in the statement of cash flows.

Income Tax

No provision has been made for income tax with NZHP being a public authority and 
consequently exempt from the payment of income tax.

Budget Figures

The budget figures are derived from the SPE 2018/19, as approved by the Board at the 
beginning of the financial year. The budget figures have been prepared in accordance with 
NZ GAAP, using accounting policies that are consistent with those adopted by the Board in 
preparing these Financial Statements.

Cost Allocation

NZHP has determined the cost of outputs using the cost allocation system outlined below.

Direct costs are those costs directly attributed to an output. Indirect costs are those costs that 
cannot be identified in an economically feasible manner with a specific output.

Direct costs are charged directly to outputs. Indirect costs are charged to outputs based on cost 
drivers and related activity or usage information. Depreciation is charged on the basis of asset 
utilisation. 

Personnel costs are charged on the basis of actual time incurred. Property and other premises 
costs, such as maintenance, are charged on the basis of floor area occupied for the production 
of each output. Other indirect costs are assigned to outputs based on the proportion of direct 
staff costs for each output.
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Critical Accounting Judgements and Estimates

In preparing these Financial Statements, NZHP has made estimates and assumptions 
concerning the future. These estimates and assumptions may differ from the subsequent 
actual results. Estimates and assumptions are continually evaluated and are based on historical 
experience and other factors, including expectation of future events that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances.

 
Critical Judgement in Applying Accounting Policies

Management has exercised critical judgements in applying accounting policies relating to the 
following:

•  Recognition of onerous contracts and carrying values, having considered 
commitments made for the FPIM Programme for DHBs. The FPIM Programme 
was designed to support all 20 DHBs and requires an assessment to be made 
of the impact of a change in scope to proceed with only 10 DHBs, particularly 
regarding commitments made for:

  •  Hardware based on the detailed design intended to serve 20 DHBs

  •  Software support and Application Licenses for a specified quantum of  
  users,  refer to note 5 (Leases).

•  Determining the useful life of Oracle Application Licenses, refer to note 11 
(Intangibles)

•  Capitalisation and Impairment of FPIM Programme assets, refer to note 11 
(Intangibles)

•  Determining the useful life of the FPIM Programme asset, refer to note 11 
(Intangibles).
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2. REVENUE

Accounting Policy

Funding from DHBs

NZ Health Partnerships (NZHP) is primarily funded through revenue received from DHBs, 
which is restricted in its use for the purpose of NZHP meeting its objectives as specified in 
the Statement of Intent. Revenue is recognised as revenue when earned and is reported in the 
financial period to which it relates.

There were no donations received during the year.

          Actual Budget Actual

2018/19 2018/19 2017/18

$000s $000s $000s

Programme revenue:          

FPIM Programme 8,980 9,036 7,528

National Infrastructure Platform 0 0 672

Microsoft H2018       0 0 335

Total Programme revenue 8,980 9,036 8,535

 

Services revenue  

Interest Revenue from Shared Banking Facility 16,181 12,521 19,420

Shared Banking and Insurance Operations 457 456 603

National Procurement 3,462 3,188 3,426

Management Services 5,135 5,633 5,090

NZ Health Partnership Interest 130 15 29

Total services revenue     25,365 21,813 28,568

Total revenue       34,345 30,849 37,103
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3. PERSONNEL COSTS

Accounting Policy

Superannuation Schemes

Defined benefit scheme

NZ Health Partnerships (NZHP) has no obligations to contribute to any defined benefit 
superannuation funds.

Defined contribution schemes

Obligations for contributions to KiwiSaver are accounted for as defined contribution 
superannuation schemes and are recognised as an expense in the surplus or deficit as incurred.

Personnel Costs
            2018/19 2017/18

Actual Actual

            $000s $000s

Salaries and wages 5,375 4,397

Defined contribution plan employer contributions 125 104

Increase/(Decrease) in employee entitlements     53 121

Total personnel costs         5,553 4,622
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Employee Remuneration

The Company paid short-term benefits in excess of $100,000 by way of remuneration including 
salary and benefits to 21 employees during the year (2017/18: 16)

     2018/19 2017/18
     Actual Actual

Total remuneration paid or payable:

$100,000 - $109,999 5 1

$110,000 - $119,999 1 3

$120,000 - $129,999 4 4

$130,000 - $139,999   1

$140,000 - $149,999 2 1

$150,000 - $159,999   1

$160,000 - $169,999 3 1

$170,000 - $179,999 3

$180,000 - $189,999   1

$190,000 - $199,999  

$200,000 - $209,999  

$220,000 - $229,999  

$230,000 - $239,999   1

$240,000 - $249,999 1 1

$250,000 - $259,999  

$260,000 - $269,999  

$270,000 - $279,999  

$280,000 - $289,999 1

$290,000 - $299,999  

$300,000 - $309,999  

$310,000 - $319,999  

$320,000 - $329,999 1

$370,000 - $379,999   1

Total employee remuneration 21 16

During the year ended 30 June 2019, three employees received compensation and other benefits 
in relation to cessation, with a total of $67k. (2017/18: one employee with a total of $9k).
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Board Director Remuneration

The total value of remuneration paid or payable to each Director during the year was:

            2018/19 2017/18

Actual Actual

            $000s $000s

Terrance McLaughlin (appointed  as Chair June 2019) 31 29

Peter Anderson (resigned as Chair June 2019) 58 58

Kevin Atkinson 29 29

Ronal Luxton 29 28

Pauline Lockett (started July 2018) 29 0

Jo Hogan (resigned February  2019) 19 29

Rabin Rabindran (resigned August 2018) 3 29

Deryck Jonathan Shaw (resigned June 2018) 0 29

Judy McGregor (started February 2019,  
resigned March 2019)

0 0

Total board member remuneration     198 231

Committee members – There have been no payments made to committee members appointed 
by the Board who are not Board members during the financial year (2017/18: there were none).

Deed of Indemnity – NZ Health Partnerships (NZHP) provided a deed of indemnity to Directors 
for certain activities undertaken in the performance of NZHP.

Insurance cover – NZHP held Directors’ and Officers’ Liability and Professional Indemnity 
insurance cover during the financial year in respect of the liability or costs of Board members 
and employees.

Compensation and other benefits – No Board Directors received compensation or other benefits 
in relation to cessation (2017/18: there was none).
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4. DEPRECIATION, AMORTISATION AND IMPAIRMENT

Accounting Policy

Refer to the policy for depreciation, amortisation and impairment of property, plant and equipment, in 
note 10, and intangible assets, in note 11. 

The following table summarises the depreciation, amortisation and impairment set out in note 10 and 
note 11.

            2018/19 2017/18

Actual Actual

          Notes $000s $000s

Depreciation property, plant and equipment 10 1,086 605

Amortisation intangible assets 11 5,654 1,254

Impairment intangible assets 11 32,887 5,773

Total depreciation, amortisation and impairment expense   39,627 7,632
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5. LEASES

Accounting Policy

Operating leases

An operating lease is a lease that does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards 
incidental to ownership of an asset by the lessee. Lease payments under an operating lease are 
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease incentives received 
are recognised in the surplus/deficit as a reduction of rental expense over the lease term.

Finance leases

A finance lease is a lease that transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership of an asset to the lessee, regardless of whether title may or may not eventually be 
transferred. At the commencement of the lease term, the lessee will recognise a leased asset and 
the associated lease obligation as a liability in the statement of financial position. The assets and 
liabilities shall be recognised at amounts equal to the fair value of the leased asset or, if lower the 
present value of the minimum lease payments.

Minimum lease payments are apportioned between a finance charge and a reduction of the 
outstanding finance lease liability. The finance charge is allocated to each period during the lease term 
so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the lease liability.

A finance lease gives rise to a depreciation expense as well as a finance expense which will be 
charged to the statement of comprehensive revenue and expense for each accounting period. 
Depreciation will be consistent with that for depreciable assets that are owned. Where there is no 
reasonable certainty that NZ Health Partnerships (NZHP) will obtain ownership by the end of the 
lease term, the asset will be depreciated over the shorter of the lease term or the asset’s useful life.

    2018/19 2017/18

Operating Leases as Lessee Actual Actual

    $000s $000s
Rent payable under non-cancellable operating leases to the end  
of the lease terms are:

 

– Not later than one year 382 629
– Later than one year and not later than five years 279 1,318
– Later than five years 0 0

Performance guarantee – NZHP has one performance guarantee in place of $187k with 
Westpac for Goodman Nominee Ltd (2017/18: $187k).

FPIM Programme change of scope and Onerous contracts – As a result of the change in 
scope of the FPIM Programme, from a solution for 20 DHBs to a solution for 10 DHBs, NZHP 
reviewed contracts and commitments assessing the potential for onerous obligations. The 
review resulted in an Onerous contracts provision of $156k being made for the operating 
lease commitment relating to the three non-standard items noted in the Revera IaaS contract, 
representing the service commitment that is not expected to be utilised while the NTS asset is 
being built over the next twelve months, refer to note 6 (other expenses).

Revera IaaS contract – While evaluating contracts and commitments, an expansive description 
of the physical devices required for the delivery of IaaS services was found detailed in the FPIM 
Service’s Architecture Design document. 
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With this new information, NZHP was now able to estimate the value attributable to the 
equipment and service elements, pertaining to the non-standard items noted in the Revera IaaS 
(Infrastructure as a Service) contract. This estimation enabled NZHP to make a determination 
regarding the transfer of risk and rewards incidental to ownership, and derive the appropriate 
lease classification in accordance with PBE IPSAS 13.

NZHP concluded that the three non-standard items noted in the Revera IaaS contract, should 
be disclosed as a finance lease commitment for the equipment element and an operating lease 
commitment for the service element, where NZHP had previously disclosed the whole amount 
as an operating lease commitment in the 2017/18 annual accounts. 

The combined cumulative future lease obligation disclosed in the 2018/19 annual accounts in 
note 5 would be the same regardless of lease classification. NZHP considers that users would 
not be unreasonably influenced in making or evaluating decisions based upon the differentiation 
in disclosure between operating and finance lease commitment, therefore NZHP has applied a 
prospective application of the change resulting from the revised estimate.

The effect of the change in the classification between operating and finance lease has been 
recognised in the current accounting period by adjusting the carrying value of the related 
net assets and equity. The change in recognition between operating lease and finance lease 
obligation results in a $506k net increase in Leased Assets, and a $571k net increase of Finance 
Lease Liability, with an additional $65k net charge to the statement of comprehensive income. 

          2018/19 2017/18

Finance Leases as Lessee Actual Actual

          $000s $000s

Rent payable under non-cancellable finance leases to the end  
of the lease terms are:

 

– Not later than one year 935 627

– Later than one year and not later than five years 1,836 2,200

– Later than five years 0 0

Total present value of future minimum lease payments 2,771 2,827

NZHP has stated the lease liability at the present value of the minimum lease payments based 
on the average 15.0% implied interest rate at the commencement of the lease. (2017/18: 16.9%).

Reconciliation between the total future minimum lease payments and their 
present value

          2018/19 2017/18

Actual Actual

          $000s $000s

Total present value of minimum lease payments 2,771 2,827

Interest expense 624 961

Total value of future minimum lease payments   3,395 3,788

Finance lease – Entering into a finance lease requires the authority of the Minister of Health 
and the Minister of Finance under Schedule 3, clause 45 of the Public Health and Disability Act 
2000 and sections 160 and 162 of the CEA. This was not obtained at the time of entering into 
the arrangement. NZ Health Partnerships applied for and subsequently received joint Ministerial 
approval for up to $3.6m, from 8 November 2018, refer to note 1 (Statement of Accounting 
Policies).
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6. OTHER EXPENSES

          2018/19 2017/18

Actual Actual

          $000s $000s

Fees to principal auditor, Audit New Zealand 183 134

Other assurance providers 18 72

Onerous contracts 156 0

Staff travel 183 203

Impairment of receivables 144 0

Board member fees 198 231

Consultancy 1,219 308

Services contracted out 445 783

Contractors 2,018 1,852

Office lease expense 289 271

Other lease expense 156 404

Other expenses 5,501 5,465

Total other expenses       10,510 9,723

Fees to principal auditor – includes the recovery by Audit New Zealand of an additional $42k 
relating to the 2017/18 financial year.

Onerous contracts – provision has been made for the operating lease commitment relating to 
the three non-standard items noted in the Revera IaaS contract disclosed as an operating lease 
commitment, representing the service commitment that is not expected to be utilised while the 
NTS asset is being built, refer to note 5 (Leases).

Impairment of receivables – provision made for collectability of amounts that were in dispute at 
30 June, refer to note 8 (Receivables).

Consultancy – includes $595k for the completion of the revised FPIM Business Case required 
by Cabinet and $468k incurred in relation to the Shareholders Review Group (SRG), which was 
the review initiated by shareholders to assess the ongoing value proposition of New Zealand 
Health Partnerships (NZHP) as a shared service provider to the health sector, refer to note 11 
(Intangibles).

Other lease expense – lease commitment embedded within the Revera IaaS agreement treated 
as an operating lease in 2017/18 financial year as based on the information available, NZHP 
was unable to determine the appropriate lease classification in accordance with PBE IPSAS 
13, refer to note 5 (Leases). Subsequent information has enabled NZHP to determine that the 
lease comprised both a Finance and Operating lease. NZHP determined that the change in 
the classification between operating and finance lease would be recognised in the 2018/19 
financial year, as users would not be unreasonably influenced in making or evaluating decisions 
based upon the differentiation in disclosure, refer to note 5 (Leases).
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7. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Accounting Policy

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks and other 
short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less. 

All investments are held in New Zealand.

          2018/19 2017/18

Actual Actual

      Notes   $000s $000s

Cash at bank and on hand 48 27

NZHP funds in shared banking facility 7,240 2,791

DHB funds in shared banking facility 12c. 142,416 154,114

Total cash and cash equivalents     149,704 156,932

Amounts held within the DHB Shared Banking Facility are not available for use by New Zealand 
Health Partnerships.
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8. RECEIVABLES

Accounting Policy

Short-term receivables are recorded at the amount due, less any provision for un-collectability.

A receivable is considered uncollectible when there is evidence that NZ Health Partnerships 
(NZHP) will not be able to collect the amount due. The amount of the uncollectability is the 
difference between the carrying amount of the receivable and the present value of the amounts 
expected to be collected.

        2018/19 2017/18

Actual Actual

        $000s $000s

Receivables 4,762 9,134

Less: Provision for Uncollectibility (144) 0

Total receivables     4,618 9,134

 

Receivables (current) 2,233 6,570

Receivable (non-current) 2,385 2,564

GST Receivable 0 0

Total receivables     4,618 9,134

The ageing profile of receivables at year end is detailed below:

2018/19 Actual Gross Uncollectibility Net

      $000s $000s $000s

Not past due 4,643 (144) 4,499

Past due over 90 days 119 0 119

Total     4,762 (144) 4,618

2017/18 Actual Gross Uncollectibility Net

        $000s $000s $000s

Not past due 7,520 0 7,520

Past due over 90 days 1,614 0 1,614

Total       9,134 0 9,134

Receivables – All receivables greater than 90 days in age are considered to be past due. NZHP 
has a very small number of receivables. Uncollectability is assessed based on individual 
amounts outstanding and the likelihood of non-payment. 

The receivables amount includes NZHP's ability to call $3.7m from DHBs to meet its obligations 
for $4.8m of Service Provider Fees. The asset and liability amounts vary due to differences in 
the terms of the obligations and payments made to date by DHBs. Due to their linked nature, 
fair value is determined based on the contract rates used for the Service Provider Fees using 
cashflows discounted at a market rate of 6.44%, refer to note 16A (Financial Instrument 
Categories).
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9. INVESTMENTS

Accounting Policy

Bank Term Deposits

Bank term deposits are measured at the amount invested.

            2018/19 2017/18

Actual Actual

            $000s $000s

Current Portion  

Term deposits with less  than 12 months   0 75,000

Total current portion         0 75,000

 

 

Non-Current Portion  

Term deposits with greater than 12 months   0 0

Total non-current portion       0 0

Total investments         0 75,000

The carrying value of term deposits approximates their fair value.



66            NZHP ANNUAL REPORT 2019  T R A N S PA R E N C Y   |   R E S P E C T  |   A C C O U N TA B I L I T Y   |   C O M M I T M E N T

10. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Accounting Policy

Property, plant and equipment consist of three asset classes, which are as follows:

•  Leasehold improvements

•  Furniture and office equipment, and

•  Information technology.

Property, plant and equipment are shown at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses.

Additions

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset only when it is 
probable that future economic benefits or service potential associated with the item will flow to 
NZ Health Partnerships (NZHP) and the cost of the item can be reliably measured.

In most instances, an item of property, plant and equipment is initially recognised at its cost. 
Where an asset is acquired through a non-exchange transaction, it is recognised at its fair value 
as at the date of acquisition.

The cost of day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment is expensed in the surplus or 
deficit as it is incurred.

Disposals

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying 
amount of the asset and are reported in the surplus or deficit.

Depreciation

Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis on all property, plant and equipment, at rates 
that will write-off the cost (or valuation) of the assets to their estimated residual values over 
their useful lives. The useful lives and associated depreciation rates of major classes of 
property, plant and equipment have been estimated as follows:

Asset Type Useful Life Rate

Leasehold improvements 5 - 14  years 7% - 20% 

Furniture and office equipment 1.5 - 9.5 years 10.5% - 67%

Information technology (including phones) 2.5 - 5 years 20% - 40%

Leasehold improvements – leasehold improvements are depreciated over the unexpired period 
of the lease or the estimated remaining useful lives of the improvements, whichever is the 
shorter.

Leased assets – leased assets are depreciated over the unexpired period of the lease or the 
estimated remaining useful lives of the improvements, whichever is the shorter.
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Impairment of property, plant and equipment

NZHP does not hold any cash-generating assets. Assets are considered cash-generating where 
their primary objective is to generate a commercial return.

Non-cash-generating assets

Property, plant and equipment held at cost that have a finite useful life are reviewed for 
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount 
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s 
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable service amount. The recoverable service amount is the 
higher of an asset’s fair value, less costs to sell, and value in use.

Value in use is the present value of an asset’s remaining service potential. It is determined using 
either a depreciated replacement cost approach, a restoration cost approach, or a service units’ 
approach. The most appropriate approach used to measure value in use depends on the nature 
of the impairment and availability of information.

If an asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable service amount, the asset is regarded 
as impaired and the carrying amount is written down to the recoverable amount. The total 
impairment loss is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and Expenditure.

The reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Revenue 
and Expenditure.
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Breakdown of Property, Plant and Equipment and Further Information

Movements for each class of property, plant and equipment are as follows:

2018/19 Actual            
  Leasehold

Improvemets

$000s

Furniture
and Office
Equipment

$000s

Information 
Technology

$000s

Information 
Technology
NTS Leased

$000s

Information 
Technology

NTS
$000s

Total

$000s

Cost or valuation

Balance at 1 July 2018 12 74 42 2,848 195 3,171

Addition to WIP 0 0 0 0 0 0

Addition from WIP 0 0 168 0 0 168

Additions 0 0 0 948 0 948

Disposal 0 0 0 0 0 0

Balance at 30 June 2019 12 74 210 3,796 195 4,287

Accumulated depreciation  
and impairment losses

Balance at 1 July 2018 9 44 32 807 17 909

Depreciation expense 0 11 14 1,012 49 1,086
Amortisation 0 0 0 0 0 0

Balance at 30 June 2019 9 55 46 1,819 66 1,995

Carrying Amount

At 1 July 2018 3 30 10 2,041 178 2,262

At 30 June 2019 3 19 164 1,977 129 2,292

Tangible assets transferred – Additions from WIP (Work in Progress) $168k represents tangible assets transferred from 
WIP, that while in construction comprises both tangible and intangible, until the asset is capable of operating in the 
manner intended by management. It will then be transferred from WIP and recognised appropriately as either a tangible 
or intangible asset, refer to note 11 (Intangible Assets). 

Leasehold assets – Additions to leasehold assets includes the $442k adjustment for the lease commitment embedded 
within the Revera IaaS agreement, please refer to note 6 (Other Expenses).

Property, plant and equipment – The total amount of property plant and equipment in the course of construction is $nil 
(2017/18 $0.2m).
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2017/18 Actual              

      Leasehold
Improvements

$000s

Furniture
and Office
Equipment

$000s

Information 
Technology

$000s

Information 
Technology

 NTS Leased
$000s

Information 
Technology

NTS
$000s

Total

$000s

Cost or valuation

Balance at 1 July 2017 12 74 37 2,848 0 2,971

Addition to WIP 0 0 0 0 0 0

Addition from WIP 0 0 0 0 0 0

Additions 0 0 5 0 195 200

Disposal 0 0 0 0 0 0

Balance at 30 June 2018 12 74 42 2,848 195 3,171

Accumulated depreciation  
and impairment losses

Balance at 1 July 2017 8 33 25 238 0 304

Depreciation expense 1 11 7 569 17 605

Amortisation 0 0 0 0 0 0

Balance at 30 June 2018 9 44 32 807 17 909

Carrying Amount

At 1 July 2017   4 41 12 2,610 0 2,667

At 30 June 2018     3 30 10 2,041 178 2,262
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11. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Accounting Policy

Software Acquisition and Development

Computer software licenses are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and 
bring to use. Software training costs for staff and costs associated with maintaining computer 
software are recognised as an expense when incurred.

Costs associated with the development and maintenance of NZ Health Partnerships’ website 
are recognised as an expense when incurred. Costs that are directly associated with the 
development of software for internal use are recognised as an intangible asset. 

Direct costs include software development employee costs and an appropriate portion of 
relevant overheads.

NZ Health Partnerships holds the FPIM Programme collateral as an intangible asset in work in 
progress (WIP), until such time as the asset is in the location and condition necessary for it to 
be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. It will then transfer from WIP 
and be appropriately recognised as either a tangible or intangible asset.

Estimating Useful Lives of Software Assets

NZ Health Partnerships carrying amount for acquired software includes various software 
application licenses from Oracle New Zealand (Oracle) which commenced being depreciated 
in April 2014. The applications are currently used by eleven DHBs, however they represent a 
Sector-wide license which confer rights to all 20 DHBs. These software licenses have a finite 
life.

In assessing the useful lives of software assets, a number of factors were considered, including:
•  The period of time the software is intended to be in use

•  The effect of technological change on systems and platforms

•  The expected timeframe for the development of replacement systems and platforms.

NZ Health Partnerships originally amortised the Oracle application licenses over a five-year 
term, which aligned with the hardware that was purchased to host the software. In 2017, the 
accounting estimate of the useful life was reviewed revised from five to fifteen years. 

NZ Health Partnerships has re-assessed the useful life of the Oracle application licenses, and 
has decided to revise the useful life from fifteen to eight years for the following reasons:

•  the useful lives of the software had been linked to NZ Health Partnerships’ shared 
services head agreement with DHBs

•  the FPIM Programme platform provided by the licenses was expected to be upgraded to 
a version for which the Premier support would align with the use by DHBs of at least 15 
years

•  the delay in progressing the FPIM solution has resulted in the majority of DHBs utilising 
an application version, that unless upgraded, the Premier support is likely to end within 
eight years.

Work in Progress 

NZ Health Partnerships holds costs that are directly associated with the development of WIP, 
collateral as an intangible asset in WIP comprising both tangible such as IT hardware, and 
intangible, such as software, standard operating procedures and intellectual property. The 
costs are held within WIP until the asset is capable of operating in the manner intended by 
management. It will then be transferred from WIP and recognised appropriately as either a 
tangible or intangible asset.
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Direct costs include staff, contractors and consultants time on development, as well as 
apportionment of the relevant overheads.

Indirect costs are recognised as expenses when incurred and include depreciation and software 
maintenance costs.

Amortisation

The carrying value of an intangible asset with a finite life is amortised on a straight-line basis 
over its useful life. Amortisation begins when the asset is available for use and ceases at 
the date that the asset is de-recognised. The amortisation charge for each financial year is 
recognised in the surplus or deficit.

The useful lives and associated amortisation rates of major classes of intangible assets have 
been estimated:

Intangible asset Useful Life Amortisation rate

FPIM  Programme solution 15 years 6.7%

Oracle Application Licenses 8  years 12.5 %

Acquired computer software 2.5 - 5 years 20% - 40%

FPIM Programme Asset
The FPIM Programme commenced development in 2012. The FPIM Programme is not a 
single asset, but a bundle of assets relating to FPIM Programme and the NTS being the IT 
infrastructure platform on which the FPIM Programme would operate. 

At a functional level the FPIM Programme is intended to deliver a large number of business 
activities including receivables, debt collection, payables, general ledger, project and assets 
accounting, requisitions and purchasing, inventory management, replenishment, supply chain, 
national catalogue, contract management and financial and management reporting. 

The NTS is the technical infrastructure to support the FPIM Programme system. The NTS is a 
dedicated national system, including high availability, rapid recovery from technical failure, as 
well as security hardened to meet current requirements, including compliance with the New 
Zealand Information Security Manual (NZISM)

On 28 June 2018, the MoH (the Ministry) advised NZ Health Partnerships of Cabinet’s decisions 
to approve up to $12m of capital funding, to allow the deployment of the FPIM Programme 
for the First Wave DHBs but “pausing” further development of the FPIM Programme and NTS 
pending submission of a revised FPIM Programme business case.

Following Cabinet’s decisions, NZ Health Partnerships recognised $5.8m for the impairment 
of two discontinued elements of the program, being Change Management and Centralised 
Warehousing, in the Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and Expenses for the year ended 30 
June 2018.

All 20 DHBs made further payments totaling $10m for Class B Shares to fund the deployment 
of the FPIM Programme for the first wave DHBs, in accordance with the $12m approved by 
Cabinet, $7m of which was used to repay the cash flow funding provided by the First Wave 
DHBs.

On 16 April 2019 the MoH advised on behalf of all DHBs that:

•  The DHBs had decided to establish a Shareholder Review Group with the purpose of 
reviewing and assessing the ongoing value proposition of NZHP as a shared services 
provider to the Health Sector

•  It had accepted advice made by the FPIM Governance Group for the FPIM Programme to 
be transferred from NZHP to MoH.
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On 24 June 2019, Cabinet considered the revised FPIM Business Case and noted the preferred 
option agreed to by all 20 DHBs, that only the 10 DHBs with infrastructure risks would continue 
to move onto a single instance of the FPIM solution on shared infrastructure (NTS).

On 1 July 2019, the Hon David Clarke, Minister of Health (Minister), formally advised DHB Chairs 
of Cabinet’s decision which approved:

•  DHBs to proceed and fund the preferred option

•  The FPIM Governance Board to initiate the FPIM Programme

•  MoH to assume interim responsibility for the Programme, which will likely transfer to 
another entity or entities on a permanent basis in 2020.

Significant judgements made in estimating the impairment 
of FPIM Programme Asset
The FPIM Programme asset is deemed to be a non-cash-generating asset. This is on the basis 
that there are no cash flows directly linked to the asset. Rather, the benefit to each DHB is 
the potential cost savings from a negotiated national contract above the cost of each DHB 
negotiating a similar contract themselves. Therefore, the applicable accounting standard is PBE 
IPSAS 21 Impairment of Non-Cash-Generating Assets. PBE IPSAS 21 requires an annual test for 
impairment by comparing the asset carrying value with its recoverable service amount.

Following Cabinet’s decisions, NZ Health Partnerships has considered the impairment of the 
FPIM Programme assets at 30 June 2019.

The FPIM Business Case approved by Cabinet on 24 June 2019, materially changed from the 
FPIM Programme that was paused by Cabinet on 28 June 2018. As a result the judgements 
made in assessing the FPIM Programme carrying value at 30 June 2018 have been reviewed 
resulting in a significant impairment of the FPIM Programme as at 30 June 2019. Key 
judgements made in determining the extent of impairment included:

•  The reduced DHB participation rate: The FPIM Business Case confirmed that only 10 
DHBs would move to a single system in the short to medium term. NZHP has exercised 
significant judgment estimating the future benefits expected for the participating DHBs 
which constitute 73% of the Population Based Funding (PBF), and over 80% of total DHB 
sector spend,

•  Change in scope: Following the first wave of DHBs migrating to FPIM in July 2018, NZHP 
now has visibility of a working FPIM system. Based on user feedback NZHP was able 
to reassess the initial broader scope and activities capitalised under Health Benefits 
Limited ownership prior to June 2015 - in particular, the costs pertaining to the initial 
design work and testing compared to the design of the system finally deployed and 
expected to continue for the short to medium term,

•  Platform change: Work continues to be completed on the move to the National 
Technology Solution platform which has resulted in the value of the work completed on 
the earlier Datacom platform impaired this year,

•  Reduced benefits: The Board also took into account the reduced benefits reflected in the 
Cabinet approved FPIM Business Case and the impact this had on the business case Net 
Present Value (NPV) calculation. The benefits were reduced to only forecast identifiable 
procurement spend on medical devices of $642m by PHARMAC and $102m NZHP. The 
NPV calculations indicated a lower value to the sector and further influenced the view 
that the value in use of the asset was reduced.

Based on the key judgements above, NZHP considers the FPIM asset costs capitalised 
exceeded the value in use of the asset. NZHP therefore has recognised a further $32.9m 
impairment of the FPIM asset in the Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 30 
June 2019, to a level that approximates its estimated future recoverable service amount.
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Breakdown of Intangible Assets and Further Information

Movements for each class of intangible asset are as follows:

2018/19 Actual              

          Work in Acquired NTS Total

progress software software

          $000s $000s $000s $000s

Cost

Balance at 1 July 2018 62,085 10,444 191 72,720

Additions to WIP 2,956 2,956

Additions from WIP (62,715) 62,547 0 (168)

Disposal/sales 0 0 0 0

Balance at 30 June 2019     2,326 72,991 191 75,508

Accumulated depreciation  
and Impairment Losses

Balance at 1 July 2018 5,773 3,283 16 9,072

Amortisation Expense 0 5,605 49 5,654

Transfer from WIP (5,773) 5,773 0 0

Impairment 145 32,742 0 32,887

Balance at 30 June 2019     145 47,403 65 47,613

Carrying Amounts

Balance at 1 July 2018       56,312 7,161 175 63,648

At 30 June 2019       2,181 25,588 126 27,895

Impairment loss – The impairment loss of $5.8m in WIP from annual account 2017/18 have 
been transferred from both WIP Cost and Accumulated Depreciation and Impairment Losses on 
transfer of the FPIM Programme asset to Acquired Software.

Information and technology assets transferred – Total Additions from WIP ($168k) represents 
the transfer from WIP of Information and Technology assets transferred and recognised as a 
tangible asset, refer to note 10 (Property, Plant and Equipment). 

Intangible assets – There are restrictions over the title of NZ Health Partnerships intangible 
assets, refer to note 14 (Equity). There are no intangible assets pledged as security for liabilities.
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2017/18 Actual            

        Work in Acquired NTS Total

progress software software

        $000s $000s $000s $000s

Cost

Balance at 1 July 2017 60,124 6,003 0 66,127

Additions to WIP 6,593 6,593

Additions from WIP (4,632) 4,441 191 0

Disposal/sales 0 0 0 0

Balance at 30 June 2018   62,085 10,444 191 72,720

Accumulated depreciation  
and Impairment Losses

Balance at 1 July 2017 0 2,045 0 2,045

Amortisation Expense 0 1,238 16 1,254

Disposal/Sales 0 0 0 0

Impairment 5,773 0 0 5,773

Balance at 30 June 2018   5,773 3,283 16 9,072

Carrying Amounts

Balance at 1 July 2017     60,124 3,958 0 64,082

At 30 June 2018     56,312 7,161 175 63,648

There are restrictions over the title of NZHP intangible assets, refer to note 14 (Equity). There 
are no intangible assets pledged as security for liabilities.
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12. PAYABLES

Accounting Policy

Short-term payables are recorded at their face value.

          2018/19 2017/18

Actual Actual

          $000s $000s

Creditors 1,216 2,268

Accrued expenses 6,658 12,347

Service provider fee 4,689 6,811

Other payables 110 83

Tax payable (GST & PAYE) 156 71

Total payables       12,829 21,580

 

Total payables comprises:  

Payable (current) 8,140 14,769

Service provider fee (current) 2,122 2,123

Total current payables       10,262 16,892

 

Payable (non-current) 0 0

Service provider fee (non-current) 2,567 4,688

Total non-current payables     2,567 4,688

Total payables       12,829 21,580

Creditors – Creditors and other payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 
30-day terms. Therefore, the carrying value of creditors and other payables approximates their 
fair value.

Service provider fees – The fair value of Service Provider fees has been determined using 
contractual cashflows discounted using a market based rate of 6.44% at balance date.
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DHB and Other Shared Banking Facility

          2018/19 2017/18
Actual Actual

      Notes   $000s $000s
Auckland DHB 94,103 95,322
Bay of Plenty DHB 21,289 21,964
Canterbury DHB (36,575) (17,376)
Capital & Coast DHB (2,674) 17,582
Counties Manukau DHB 14,387 31,208
Hawke's Bay DHB (10,216) 6,472
Hutt Valley DHB (1,451) 5,874
Lakes DHB 5,047 7,038
MidCentral DHB 25,807 22,346
Nelson Marlborough DHB 6,325 18,470
Northland DHB 2,477 6,011
South Canterbury DHB 7,853 8,599
Southern DHB (9,606) (29,980)
Tairāwhiti DHB (580) (1,597)
Taranaki DHB (2,036) (4,578)
Waikato DHB (35,996) (9,517)
Wairarapa DHB (1,798) (943)
Waitemata DHB 36,683 29,078
West Coast DHB 6,221 11,683
Whanganui DHB 3,012 1,315
healthAlliance Limited 10,894 868
HealthShare Limited 4,349 4,948
healthAlliance (FPSC) Limited 3,117 1,478
          140,632 226,265
Current Assets a. (100,932) (63,991)
Current Liabilities b. 241,564 290,256
          140,632 226,265

 

This balance is represented by:  

Cash and cash equivalents c. 142,416 154,114
Term deposits 0 75,000
Accrued interest (1,684) (2,796)
Admin fee (100) (54)
          140,632 226,264



NZHP ANNUAL REPORT 2019            77 T R A N S PA R E N C Y   |   R E S P E C T  |   A C C O U N TA B I L I T Y   |   C O M M I T M E N T

13. EMPLOYEE ENTITLEMENTS

Accounting Policy

Short-term employee entitlements

Employee benefits that are due to be settled within 12 months after the end of the period in 
which the employee renders the related service are measured at nominal values based on 
accrued entitlements at current rates of pay. These include salaries and wages accrued up to 
balance date and annual leave earned to, but not yet taken, at balance date.

A liability and an expense is recognised where there is a contractual obligation or where there 
is a past practice that has created a constructive obligation and a reliable estimate of the 
obligation can be made.

Presentation of employee entitlements

Sick leave and annual leave are classified as a current liability.

            2018/19 2017/18

Actual Actual

            $000s $000s

Current portion  

Accrued salaries and wages 108 85

Annual leave 242 212

Employee sick leave entitlements 0 0

Total current portion         350 297

 

Non-Current portion  

Employee sick leave entitlements 0 0

Total employee entitlements       350 297

Long service leave – New Zealand Health Partnerships does not currently have any employment 
agreement containing long service leave entitlements. All employee entitlements relate to 
annual leave entitlements expected to be taken within the 12 months following the entitlement 
falling due.
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14. EQUITY

Accounting Policy

Equity is measured as the difference between total assets and total liabilities. Equity is 
disaggregated and classified into the following components:

•  Accumulated surplus/(deficit)

•  Contributed Capital - DHBs.

              2018/19 2017/18

Actual Actual

              $000s $000s

Accumulated surplus/(deficit) (7,973) (3,236)

Surplus/ (Deficit) for the year (38,029) (4,737)

Balance at 30 June           (46,002) (7,973)

 

Contributed Capital – Crown Equity  

Accumulated deficit transferred from HBL (3,716) (3,716)

Class B shares transferred from HBL 68,333 68,333

Capital contributions transferred from HBL 299 299

Capital contributions from DHBs for Class B shares 10,000 0

Balance at 30 June           74,916 64,916

Total equity           28,914 56,943

Class A Shares –  New Zealand Health Partnerships (NZHP) has issued 100 Class A Shares, 
$68.333m Class B Shares were transferred from Health Benefits Ltd (HBL) and reissued under  
NZHP. A further $10m Class B Shares were issued during year ended 30 June 2019. 

Class B Shares –  NZHP has issued Class B Shares to DHBs for the purpose of funding the  
development of the FPIM Programme shared services. The following rights are attached to 
these shares:

•  Class B Shares confer no voting rights

•  Class B shareholders shall have the right to access the FPIM Programme shared 
services

•  Class B Shares confer no right to a dividend, other than a dividend to be made out of any 
surplus earned by NZHP from the FPIM Programme shared services only

•  Holders of Class B Shares have the same rights as Class A Shares to receive notices, 
reports and accounts of the Company and to attend general meetings of the Company

•  On liquidation or dissolution of the Company, each Class B shareholder shall be 
entitled to be paid from surplus assets of the Company an amount equal to the holder’s 
proportional share of the liquidation value of the FPIM Programme shared services 
assets based upon the proportion of the total number of issued and paid up Class B 
Shares that it holds. Otherwise, each paid up Class B Share confers no right to a share 
in the distribution of the surplus assets. This payment shall be made in priority to any 
distribution of surplus assets in respect of Class A Shares

•  On liquidation or dissolution of the Company, each unpaid Class B Share confers no right 
to a share in the distribution of the surplus assets.
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15. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Related party disclosures have not been made for transactions with related parties that are:

•  Within a normal supplier, or client/recipient relationship

•  On terms and conditions no more or less favorable than those that it is reasonable to 
expect NZHP would have adopted in dealing with the party at arm’s length in the same 
circumstances.

Further, transactions with other government agencies (for example, Government departments 
and Crown-entities) are not disclosed as related party transactions when they are consistent 
with the normal operating arrangements between government agencies and undertaken on the 
normal terms and conditions for such transactions.

Key management personnel

No transactions were entered into during the year with key management personnel apart from 
salaries and reimbursed expenses.

Key management personnel compensation

          2018/19 2017/18

Actual Actual

          $000s $000s

Board members  

Remuneration 198 231

Full time equivalent members                 5.75 6.92

 

Leadership team  

Remuneration 1,580 1,307

Full time equivalent members                 5.25                 4.87 

Total key management personnel remuneration     1,778 1,538

Total full time equivalent personnel                     11.00                 11.79 

Key management personnel definition – Key management personnel include all board 
members, the Chief Executive, and members of the NZHP's Executive Leadership Team.  
For Board members, the full-time equivalent is taken as the number of Board members.
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16. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

16A Financial instrument categories
The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities in each of the NZ PBE IPSAS 28 categories are as follows:

              2018/19 2017/18

Actual Actual

          Notes   $000s $000s

Loans and receivables  

Cash and cash equivalents 7 149,704 156,932

Receivables ( excluding GST) 8 4,618 9,134

DHB shared banking facility 12a. 100,932 63,991

Investments – Term deposits 9 0 75,000

Total loans and receivables         255,254 305,057

 

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost  

Payables (excluding GST, PAYE & income in advance) 12,673 21,509

Present value of minimum lease payments 5 2,771 2,827

DHB shared Banking facility 12b. 241,564 290,256

Total financial liabilities measured at amortised cost     257,008 314,592

Financial assets – receivables excluding GST

The receivables amount includes NZ Health Partnerships’ ability to call $3.7m from DHBs to meet its obligations for the 
Service Provider Fees (refer financial liabilities – payables below). The asset and liability amounts vary due to differences 
in the terms of the obligations and payments made to date by DHBs. Due to their linked nature, fair value is determined 
based on the contract rates used for the Service Provider Fees.

Under the contract variation, NZ Health Partnerships (NZHP) can invoice the third party provider in respect of credits 
against new contracts for All of Government spend between December 2016 and February 2025. Realising of credits 
has slowed significantly and NZHP is now expecting that timing will require DHBs to provide additional funding to be in a 
position to meet the payment for Service Provider Fee obligation. Any future credit realisation up to February 2025 would 
be available to reduce the DHBs’ funding obligation and may ultimately result in a distribution to DHBs if credits are 
realised beyond the remaining Service Provider Fee obligation.

Financial liabilities – payables excluding GST, PAYE and income in advance

NZHP has elected an extended payment option for two Service Provider Fees of $4.8m (2016/17: $6.9m), with payments 
over 13 and 53 month terms (2017/18: 25 and 65). Fair values are determined based on contractual cashflows 
discounted using market rates.

16B Financial instrument risks
NZHP's activities expose it to counterparty credit risk, interest rate risk and liquidity risk. NZHP policy does not allow any 
transactions that are speculative in nature to be entered into.

Fair value interest rate risk

Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market 
interest rates. NZHP's exposure to fair value interest rate risk is limited to its cash deposits, which are held at variable rates 
of interest. NZHP does not actively manage its exposure to fair value interest rate risk.
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To mitigate and minimise Interest Rate Risk, NZHP:

•  Can place funds in on-call accounts at banks other than the Transactional Banker, currently Bank of New Zealand 
(BNZ), where the credit interest rate exceeds the Transactional Banker’s rate

•  May use term investments to enhance overall returns provided that they:

 •  Are simple “term deposit” type

 •  Have no option related or other non-standard features

 •  Do not exceed 61 months

 •  Are subject to portfolio term limits detailed within the Shared Banking Treasury Policy.

Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk that a third party will default on its obligation to NZHP, causing it to incur a loss.

NZHP has processes in place to review the credit quality of customers prior to the granting of credit. In the normal 
course of business, NZHP is exposed to credit risk from cash and term deposits with banks, debtors and other 
receivables. For each of these, the maximum credit exposure is best represented by the carrying amount in the statement 
of financial position.

NZHP holds no collateral or other credit enhancements for financial instruments that give rise to credit risk.

NZHP will ensure that any participating DHBs’ maximum debit balance does not exceed one month’s Provider Arm 
revenue (consistent with MoH requirements). Escalation to the NZHP Chief Executive/MoH officials is required if 
it appears likely that this restriction will be breached, potentially including the removal of the DHB from the Sweep 
(immediately following receipt of monthly MoH revenue).

NZHP will monitor the Standard and Poor’s long-term credit rating for the Sector’s transactional bank, currently Bank of 
New Zealand (BNZ). If the credit rating falls below A+ and the bank is placed on a ‘negative outlook’, escalating action, 
including discussion with the transactional bank, DHBs, MoH and Treasury New Zealand officials will commence.

NZHP will ensure that treasury related credit exposure to other entities is controlled and term investments shall only be 
made with:

•  New Zealand registered and incorporated banks that are systemically important ie ANZ National Bank Limited, 
ASB Bank Limited, BNZ, Kiwibank, and Westpac New Zealand Limited. Permitted exposure to such banks is 
unlimited.

•  No credit exposure to any other party for any other treasury related purpose shall be accepted.

Credit quality of financial assets

The credit quality of financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by reference to Standard 
and Poor’s credit ratings (if available) or to historical information about counter-party default rates:

              2018/19 2017/18

Actual Actual

          Notes   $000s $000s

COUNTER-PARTIES WITH CREDIT RATINGS  

Cash, cash equivalent and investments  

AA-rated 7 149,704 231,932

Total cash, cash equivalents and investments       149,704 231,932

 

COUNTER-PARTIES WITHOUT CREDIT RATINGS  

Receivables  

Existing counter-party with no defaults in the past  

Debtors and other receivables (excluding GST) 8 4,618 9,134

DHB shared banking facility 12a. 100,932 63,991

Total debtors and other receivables       105,550 73,125
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Liquidity Risk

Management of liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that NZ Health Partnerships (NZHP) will encounter difficulty raising liquid funds to meet 
commitments as they fall due. Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and the ability 
to close out market positions.  NZHP manages liquidity risk by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flow 
requirements.

DHB Shared Banking Facility:

•  There is a risk that a DHB does not obtain sufficient funds from NZHP due to NZHP having funds invested on term 
deposit or because DHBs are, in total, overdrawn

•  The agreement requires DHBs to provide up to date cash forecasts to NZHP, which help NZHP to manage this risk. 
Further, NZHP has a standby facility with BNZ that will allow it to borrow up to $50m to provide liquidity for the 
DHB Shared Banking Facility

•  Liquidity risk would only arise if DHBs were, in total, overdrawn in excess of this $50m standby facility. Further, 
NZHP maintains a $75m ‘buffer’ in its sweep account before funds are placed on term deposit. The buffer was 
changed to $30m from July 2019

•  As at 30 June 2019 there is liquidity risk due to the increasing DHB deficits. This risk is being actively managed by  
NZHP in conjunction with MoH and the DHBs to ensure ongoing smooth operation of the DHBs Shared Banking 
Facility.

Contractual maturity analysis of financial liabilities

The following table analyses financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at 
balance date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

          2018/19 Actual  

Carrying Contractual Less than 6 - 12 Greater than

amount cash flows 6 months months 1 year

      $000s $000s $000s $000s $000s

Payables ( excluding income in advance,

taxes payable and grants received 12,673 12,673 9,140 1,123 2,410

subjected to conditions)

DHB shared banking facility 241,564 241,564 241,564 0 0

Total     254,237 254,237 250,704 1,123 2,410

             2017/18 Actual  
      Carrying Contractual Less than 6 - 12 Greater than

amount cash flows 6 months months 1 year

      $000s $000s $000s $000s $000s

Payables ( excluding income in advance,

taxes payable and grants received 21,509 21,509 15,808 1,013 4,688

subjected to conditions)

DHB shared banking facility 290,256 290,256 290,256 0 0

Total     311,765 311,765 306,064 1,013 4,688
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17. CONTINGENCIES

NZ Health Partnerships (NZHP) has contracts for the provision of IaaS relating to the 
NTS Programme, for which stop-cost contract penalties could result in the event NTS was 
discontinued.

If any IaaS provision was required as a result of the FPIM Programme and IT infrastructure risk 
mitigation reviews, and after any subsequent negotiations to mitigate any potential contract 
penalties, these costs would be passed through to DHBs as FPIM Programme operating 
expenditure.

In the unlikely event that there was a discontinuance of NTS and a requirement to stop the 
contract, for any resulting stop-cost penalties NZHP would have a contingent liability to the 
supplier, and an equal and corresponding contingent asset as a receivable from the DHBs. 
(2017/18:  none).



84            NZHP ANNUAL REPORT 2019  T R A N S PA R E N C Y   |   R E S P E C T  |   A C C O U N TA B I L I T Y   |   C O M M I T M E N T

18. EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE DATE

Approval of updated FPIM business case 

1 July 2019, the Minister formally advised DHB Chairs of Cabinet’s decision in relation to the 
FPIM business case which approved:

•  The preferred option for 10 DHBs to proceed with and continue to fund the FPIM Programme 

•  MoH to assume interim responsibility for the FPIM Programme 

•  The FPIM Governance Board to initiate the FPIM Programme to deliver on the objectives set out 
in the FPIM Business Case 

• MoH by 31 Decemebr 2019, to make a recommendation to Cabinet on which entity or 
entities should continue to hold the FPIM Programme assets and liabilities together with a 
recommendation on which entity or entities will be responsible for completing delivery of the 
FPIM Programme.

The advice from the Minister removed the uncertainty pertaining to the FPIM Programme asset 
and provided a pathway for completion, all be it with a change in scope that has only 10 rather 
than 20 DHBs continuing to progress the FPIM Programme. Considering the change in scope, 
the pathway and anticipated costs to complete together with a revision of the benefits expected 
to be delivered NZ Health Partnerships tested the FPIM asset for impairment, and recognised a 
further $32.887m impairment to reflect the assets depreciated replacement cost, refer to note 
11 (Intangible Assets).

Uncertainty about future control of the FPIM asset

On 4 October 2019, the MoH and NZ Health Partnerships entered into a Memorandum of 
Understanding that outlined the roles and responsibilities of NZHP and the MoH in relation to 
the FPIM programme as outlined below: 

•  MoH assumed responsibility from NZ Health Partnerships for governing and managing 
the FPIM programme. 

•  NZHP would continue to provide implementation, management and delivery services for 
the FPIM programme. 

•  MoH has established the FPIM Governance Board to assist it to carry out this 
responsibility.

•  NZ Health Partnerships would provide advice on ways to transition the FPIM asset out 
of the balance sheet of NZHP and into a longer term central agency or over to individual 
DHBs as directed by the FPIM governance Board.

The Board’s view is that the FPIM asset should remain on NZ Health Partnerships balance sheet 
until a decision is made about which entity or entities should hold the asset.

Whilst there remains uncertainty as to the future ownership of the FPIM asset and liabilities, NZ 
Health Partnerships consider that any proposed change will likely be transacted at a value that 
reflects the asset’s depreciated replacement cost.
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Future of NZ Health Partnerships

On 4 August 2019 the Shareholders Review Group (the SRG) established by the DHBs to review 
the current state of NZ Health Partnerships and to provide a recommendation to Shareholders 
on the future of the company, presented its final report to Jenny Black, Chair of the DHB Chairs 
Group.

The SRG recommended:

a.  The establishment of a national procurement-led entity to deliver whole-of-system functions for 
the Sector, including: Banking, Insurance, and the Master Catalogue including data/analytics

b.  The entity to be initially established as a Crown Entity Company, with a mandate under Section 
33A of the Public Health and Disability Act 2000.

c.  The Board of each DHB approves the recommendations by 30 September 2019.

On 26 August 2019, the MoH requested a pause on the DHBs approving the recommendation, 
pending the MoH providing a briefing to the Minister of Health.

On 1 September 2019 the MoH advised DHBs to recommence approval of the 
recommendations contained in the SRG report subject to the final approval of the Minister of 
Health.

Whilst this indicates that the future structure of the NZ Health Partnerships is likely to change 
the role and functions will continue, and the assets and liabilities are likely to be transferred 
to a new Crown Entity Company. Under the terms of the Shareholder Review, the shareholders 
and the MoH provided NZ Health Partnerships with an undertaking to maintain NZ Health 
Partnerships solvency, and that any new obligations entered into will be transferred as part of 
the transfer of NZ Health Partnerships other functions and obligations, should that eventuate. 
Given these undertakings from our shareholders and the MoH, NZ Health Partnerships has 
prepared the Financial Statements on the going concern basis.
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19.  EXPLANATION OF MAJOR VARIANCES    
 AGAINST BUDGET

Explanations for major variances from the NZ Health Partnerships (NZHP) budgeted figures in 
the SPE are as follows:

Statement of Comprehensive Income

Revenue

DHBs

Revenue from DHBs was $1.7m lower than budget with $498k of budgeted management services 
revenue not being charged as a result of a corresponding reduction in the budgeted management 
services expenditure, and a miss allocation of $1.2m in budgeted revenue with revenue from 
healthAlliance (hA) budgeted from DHBs when it should have been other revenue.

Interest   revenue

NZHP Interest Income is $115k higher than budget predominantly due to timing with higher 
than planned cash held throughout the year particularly due to reconciling and settlement of 
cashflow funding pertaining to the FPIM Programme.

Shared Banking Interest Income is $3.7m higher than budget predominantly due to timing with 
higher than planned cash held in the offset throughout the year.

Other revenue

Other revenue was $1.5m higher than budget with $275k of unbudgeted revenue from PHARMAC 
contributing towards the transfer of National Procurement from hA to NZHP, together with the 
miss allocation of $1.2m in budgeted revenue between Revenue from Crown and Other Income.

Expenses

Personnel   costs

Personnel costs were $432k higher than budgeted, however $934k of personnel costs were 
miss classified in budget as other expenses. Adjusting for this miss classification the actual 
variance would have been $502k favorable, attributable to vacancies being held open and 
covered through existing head count or temporary resourcing.  

Interest   expenses

Interest expense was $3.5m higher than budgeted, with the higher than planned cash held in the 
offset throughout the year resulting in additional interest income from Shared Banking activities, 
which in turn supported a higher than planned distribution of interest to DHBs.

Interest on finance lease represents the change in budgeted treatment from operating service 
agreements to finance lease, with corresponding reduction in other expenses.

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment expenses

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment was $39.5m higher than budget, $32.9m for the 
impairment of the FPIM Programme asset, $5.6m unbudgeted (unfunded) FPIM Programme 
asset amortisation, and depreciation for finance leased asset being included in other expenses 
as were budgeted as operating service agreements.
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Other   expenses

Other expense was $2.1m lower than budget, due to the reclassification of operating service 
agreement costs to a finance lease, $632k is now disclosed under Interest on Finance Lease 
and $1m under depreciation. Additionally, the $934k budget error in classifying $934k of costs 
as other expenses rather than personnel costs. The adjusted budget variance would result 
in a $467k unfavorable budget variance, predominantly representing the $595k expenditure 
incurred for producing the revised FPIM Business Case required by cabinet as part of the FPIM 
Programme pause in June 2018, refer to note 6 (Other Expenses).

Statement of Financial Position

Cash and Cash Equivalents are higher than budget with additional sector deficit support funding 
of $141m injected in June 2019. 

Net DHB Shared Banking Facility under current assets and liabilities are higher than budget due 
to the higher than planned cash held in the offset account at balance date, with additional MoH 
cash injections of deficit support funding to DHBs of $141m during June 2019. 

Property, Plant and Equipment, together with Finance Lease Liability’s, are higher than budget as 
a result of recognition of finance lease assets in accordance with IPSAS 13, previously treated 
as operating service agreements, or operating leases, refer to note 5 (Leases). 

Intangible Assets are lower than budget as a result of the pause in progressing the FPIM 
Programme, the $32.9m impairment and the $5.6m unbudgeted amortisation of the FPIM 
Programme asset.

Statement of Cash Flows

Cash receipts and payments varied to budget due to changes in the individual DHBs’ cash 
positions.

20. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

NZ Health Partnerships' (NZHP) capital is its equity, which comprises capital and accumulated 
surplus/(deficit). Equity is represented by net assets.

NZHP is subject to the financial management and accountability provisions of the CEA, which 
impose restrictions in relation to borrowings, acquisition of securities, issuing guarantees and 
indemnities, and the use of derivatives.

NZHP manages its equity by prudently managing revenues, expenses, assets, liabilities, 
investments, and general financial dealings to ensure the company effectively achieves its 
objectives and purpose.
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
 

To the readers of NZ Health Partnership Limited’s financial statements and 
performance information for the year ended 30 June 2019 

The Auditor-General is the auditor NZ Health Partnerships Limited (the Company). The Auditor-General 
has appointed me, Athol Graham, using the staff and resources of Audit New Zealand, to carry out the 
audit of the financial statements and the performance information, of the Company on his behalf. 

Opinion  

We have audited: 

• the financial statements of the Company on pages 45 to 87, that comprise the statement of 
financial position as at 30 June 2019, the statement of comprehensive revenue and 
expenditure, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year ended 
on that date and the notes to the financial statements including a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory information; and 

• the performance information of the Company on pages 21 to 42. 

In our opinion: 

• the financial statements of the Company on pages 45 to 87: 

 present fairly, in all material respects: 

• its financial position as at 30 June 2019; and 

• its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended; and 

 comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand in accordance 
with the New Zealand Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards 
Reduced Disclosure Regime; and 

• the performance information on pages 21 to 42 : 

 presents fairly, in all material respects, the Company’s performance for the year 
ended 30 June 2019, including: 

• for each class of reportable outputs: 

• its standards of delivery performance achieved as compared 
with forecasts included in the statement of performance 
expectations for the financial year; and 

• its actual revenue and output expenses as compared with the 
forecasts included in the statement of performance expectations 
for the financial year; and 

 complies with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand. 

Independent Auditor's Report
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Our audit was completed on 31 October 2019. This is the date at which our opinion is expressed. 

The basis for our opinion is explained below. In addition, we outline the responsibilities of the Board 
and our responsibilities relating to the financial statements and the performance information, we 
comment on other information, and we explain our independence. 

Impairment of the Health Finance Procurement and Information Management System 

Without modifying our opinion, we draw your attention to the disclosures made in note 11 on pages 
70 to 74 which outline the impairment of the Health Finance Procurement and Information 
Management System assets. The disclosures outline the matters, uncertainties and significant 
judgements that the Board has considered and taken into account in determining the amount of 
impairment of $32.9m. We consider these disclosures to be adequate. 

Please note that the impairment of $32.9m is an accounting estimate that is inherently uncertain in 
nature. The impairment is based on the best information available to the Board at the time the 
estimate was determined. Such estimates can vary considerably as new information comes to hand. 

Uncertainty about the future of the Company 

Without modifying our opinion, we draw your attention to the disclosures made in note 18 on pages 
84 to 85 about the recent recommendations about the future of the Company and its programmes. 
The note explains why the Directors continue to consider the going concern basis of preparation for 
the financial statements to be appropriate. A final decision on the future of the Company is yet to be 
made, but is likely to have a substantial impact on the future of the Company. We consider these 
disclosures to be adequate. 

Basis for our opinion 

We carried out our audit in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, which 
incorporate the Professional and Ethical Standards and the International Standards on Auditing 
(New Zealand) issued by the New Zealand Auditing and Assurance Standards Board. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Responsibilities of the auditor 
section of our report. We have fulfilled our responsibilities in accordance with the Auditor-General’s 
Auditing Standards. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Responsibilities of the Board for the financial statements and the performance 
information 

The Board is responsible on behalf of the Company for preparing financial statements and 
performance information that are fairly presented and comply with generally accepted accounting 
practice in New Zealand. The Board is responsible for such internal control as it determines is 
necessary to enable it to prepare financial statements and performance information that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. In preparing the financial statements and the 
performance information, the Board is responsible on behalf of the Company for assessing the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.  
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The Board is also responsible for disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 
the going concern basis of accounting, unless there is an intention to merge or to terminate the 
activities of the Company, or there is no realistic alternative but to do so. The Board’s responsibilities 
arise from the Crown Entities Act 2004 and the Public Finance Act 1989. 

Responsibilities of the auditor for the audit of the financial statements and the 
performance information 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements and the 
performance information, as a whole, are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.  

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit carried out in 
accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements are differences or omissions of amounts or disclosures, and can arise 
from fraud or error. Misstatements are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they 
could reasonably be expected to influence the decisions of readers, taken on the basis of these 
financial statements and the performance information. 

For the budget information reported in the financial statements and the performance information, our 
procedures were limited to checking that the information agreed to the Company’s statement of 
performance expectations. We did not evaluate the security and controls over the electronic 
publication of the financial statements and the performance information. As part of an audit in 
accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgement and 
maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. Also: 

• We identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements and the 
performance information, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit 
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control. 

• We obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. 

• We evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Board. 

• We evaluate the appropriateness of the reported performance information within the 
Board’s framework for reporting its performance. 

• We conclude on the appropriateness of the use of the going concern basis of accounting by 
the Board and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial 
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statements and the performance information or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date 
of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to 
cease to continue as a going concern. 

• We evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements and 
the performance information, including the disclosures, and whether the financial 
statements and the performance information represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

We communicate with the Board regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit. Our responsibilities arise from the Public Audit Act 2001. 

Other information 

The Board is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
included on pages 1 to 20, 43, 44 and 92 to 94, but does not include the financial statements and the 
performance information, and our auditor’s report thereon. 

Our opinion on the financial statements and the performance information does not cover the other 
information and we do not express any form of audit opinion or assurance conclusion thereon. In 
connection with our audit of the financial statements and the performance information, our 
responsibility is to read the other information.  

In doing so, we consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial 
statements and the performance information or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on our work, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report 
in this regard. 

Independence 

We are independent of the Company in accordance with the independence requirements of the 
Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, which incorporate the independence requirements of 
Professional and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised): Code of Ethics for Assurance Practitioners issued by the 
New Zealand Auditing and Assurance Standards Board. 

Other than in our capacity as auditor, we have no relationship with, or interests, in the Company. 

 

Athol Graham 
Audit New Zealand 
On behalf of the Auditor-General 
Auckland, New Zealand 



92            NZHP ANNUAL REPORT 2019  T R A N S PA R E N C Y   |   R E S P E C T  |   A C C O U N TA B I L I T Y   |   C O M M I T M E N T

REGISTERED OFFICE

Level 2, Building 2

Central Park

660-670 Great South Road

Penrose, Auckland

New Zealand 

NZBN: 94290041807927

CONTACT ADDRESS

PO Box 11-410

Ellerslie

Auckland 1061

New Zealand 

ONLINE

Website: www.nzhealthpartnerhsips.co.nz

AUDITOR

The Auditor- General, pursuant to section 15 
of the Public Audit Act 2001. Athol Graham, 
Director, Audit New Zealand was appointed 
to perform the audit on behalf of the Auditor-
General

BANKER
Bank of New Zealand 

 

DIRECTORY

Our NZHP people who make it happen
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OUR  
SHAREHOLDERS

NORTHERN REGION
1. Northland DHB
2. Waitemata DHB
3. Auckland DHB
4. Counties Manukau DHB

MIDLANDS REGION
5. Waikato DHB
6. Bay of Plenty DHB
7. Lakes DHB
8. Hauora Tairāwhiti
9. Taranaki DHB

CENTRAL REGION
10. Hawke’s Bay DHB
11. Whanganui DHB
12. MidCentral DHB
13. Wairarapa DHB
14. Hutt Valley DHB
15. Capital and Coast DHB

SOUTHERN REGION
16. Nelson Marlborough DHB
17. West Coast DHB
18. Canterbury DHB
19. South Canterbury DHB
20. Southern DHB

OUR TEAM 
LOCATIONS

NORTHERN REGION
A. Kerikeri
B. Auckland (Head Office)

MIDLANDS REGION 
C. Hamilton

CENTRAL REGION 
D. Hawke’s Bay

SOUTHERN REGION
E. Christchurch
F. Dunedin
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